

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2022

Strategies to Implement an Electronic Medical Records System in Health Care Organizations

Ashley Knott Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Health and Medical Administration Commons, and the Other Communication Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Ashley Knott

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Jorge Gaytan, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty Dr. Ify Diala-Nettles, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Gregory Uche, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2022

Abstract

Strategies to Implement an Electronic Medical Records System in Health Care

Organizations

by

Ashley Knott

MBA, National Louis University, 2015

BS, Western Illinois University, 2008

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

December 2022

Abstract

Despite the 2009 mandate from the U.S. Government that healthcare organizations adopt and implement electronic medical records (EMR) systems to avoid fines and take advantage of the benefits EMR systems provide, adoption of EMR systems in the United States has been low. Since 2011, medical facilities have received incentive payments if they demonstrated "meaningful use" of certified EMR systems; however, medical facilities unable to demonstrate meaningful use beginning in 2015 have faced up to 5% penalties. Grounded in the diffusion of innovation theory, the purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore strategies that hospital project managers use to adopt and implement EMR systems successfully to receive federal incentive payments. The participants included three project managers in a hospital in Illinois with successful experience in adopting and implementing EMR systems to receive federal incentive payments. Data were collected from semistructured interviews and company documents. Thematic analysis resulted in three themes: the process of change management, initial and continuous training of staff, and staff resistance to current and new processes. A key recommendation is for leaders and adopters to establish up-front communication to outline the stages of the implementation process to the staff. The implications for positive social change include the potential to reduce patients' time in the hospital. Hospital leaders could use the federal incentive payments from the U.S. Government to improve the healthcare services delivered to members of the community.

Strategies to Implement an Electronic Medical Records System in Health Care

Organizations

by

Ashley Knott

MBA, National Louis University, 2015

BS, Western Illinois University, 2008

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

December 2022

Dedication

For my younger self. "The only limit to the height of your achievements is the reach of your dreams and your willingness to work for them." - Michelle Obama

Acknowledgments

This endeavor would not have been possible without my chair, Dr. Jorge Gaytan. Through his invaluable guidance, encouragement, and expertise, I have successfully navigated my way through this journey. With the ups and downs that can occur in life, Dr. Gaytan was my true North Star. I am completing my doctorate degree due to his support. Thank you.

I would like to acknowledge my MBA Professor, Dr. Susan Neustrom, who inspired me to get my doctorate degree. She shared her journey of starting a new career later in life when her current career had become obsolete. She started with completing her associate degree and continued until she graduated with her doctorate degree. Her story resonated with a part of me that had always wanted to graduate with a doctorate degree but was unsure if I could reach that high. Through her inspiration, I am accomplishing that dream.

Section 1: Foundation of the Study	1
Background of the Problem	1
Problem Statement	2
Purpose Statement	2
Nature of the Study	3
Research Question	5
Interview Questions	5
Conceptual Framework	6
Operational Definitions	7
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	8
Assumptions	8
Limitations	9
Delimitations	9
Significance of the Study	9
Contribution to Business Practice	10
Implications for Social Change	11
A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	12
Literature Review Organization	13
Application to the Applied Business Problem	14
Diffusion of Innovation Theory	15
Other Contrasting and Supporting Theories	22

Table of Contents

Strategies to Successfully Implement EMR Systems	
Change Management	
Strategies Hospital Project Managers Use to Manage Resistance to	
Change	
Transition	37
Section 2: The Project	
Purpose Statement	
Role of the Researcher	
Participants	43
Research Method and Design	45
Research Method	45
Research Design	
Population and Sampling	47
Ethical Research	49
Data Collection Instruments	51
Data Collection Technique	53
Data Organization Technique	57
Data Analysis	60
Reliability and Validity	64
Reliability	64
Validity	66
Transition and Summary	68

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	69
Introduction	69
Presentation of the Findings	69
Theme 1: Effective Change-Management Practices	70
Theme 2: Strategies for Training Staff	76
Theme 3: Strategies for Overcoming Barriers and Staff Resistance to New	
Processes	80
Applications to Professional Practice	85
Implications for Social Change	87
Recommendations for Action	87
Recommendations for Further Research	89
Reflections	89
Conclusion	90
References	92
Appendix A: Interview Protocol	.111
Appendix B: Interview Questions	.112
Appendix C: CITI Certificate	.113

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Electronic medical records (EMR) systems have several functions, including historical reference, communication tools, indicators for future ailments, and clinical research (Zhang & Zhang, 2016). Hospital leaders integrate EMR systems into health care settings to help streamline the EMR's functions. The usage of EMR systems can increase the communication among health care professionals (Yaseen et al., 2022). The more effective the communication is among health care professionals, the more accurate the documentation prepared.

Background of the Problem

On February 17, 2009, the U.S. Congress passed the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health (HITECH) Act to promote the adoption and meaningful use of health information technology, commonly referred to as EMR (Office for Civil Rights, 2017). The use of EMR systems has the potential to improving patient care, coordinating treatment, and engaging patients in their own care (Hsiao et al., 2013). Other anticipated benefits include decreasing medication errors and improvements in quality of care (Hamann & Bezboruah, 2020).

The HITECH Act included incentives to encourage health care providers to adopt EMR systems prior to 2015 (Kempfert & Reed, 2011). In 2012, the U.S. Congress offered \$44,000 per physician under Medicare with a decrease of reimbursement over time as penalty for failure to adopt EMR systems (Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services [CMS], 2013). Health care providers implemented the HITECH Act in two stages. Stage 1 established the foundation of the integration program and the requirements for collecting electronic data. Stage 2 consisted of continuous quality improvement and exchange of information to ensure that electronic health records (EHR) supported the priorities of the National Quality Strategy (CMS, 2018). The U.S. Congress' purpose for its 2009 mandate was to ensure that health care providers properly use EMR systems. Further research is needed to expand on the adoption and usage of EMR systems.

Problem Statement

Despite the 2009 mandate from the U.S. Government that healthcare organizations must adopt and implement EMR systems to take advantage of the benefits EMR systems provide, adoption of EMR systems in the United States has been low (U.S. Department of Health & Human Services, 2020). Starting in 2011, leaders of medical facilities could receive incentive payments up to a total of 5 years if they could demonstrate "meaningful use" of certified EMR systems, while leaders who could not demonstrate meaningful use beginning in 2015 could face up to 5% penalties (Gurtner, 2018). The general business problem is that healthcare organizations are struggling with the EMR implementation process and losing U.S. Government funding. The specific business problem is that some hospital project managers lack strategies to adopt and implement EMR systems successfully to receive federal incentive payments.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore strategies that hospital project managers use to adopt and implement EMR systems successfully to receive federal incentive payments. The target population for this study consisted of three project managers in a single hospital in Illinois with successful experience in adopting and implementing EMR systems successfully to receive federal incentive payments. The implications for positive social change include the potential to reduce patients' time in the hospital. Hospitals could use the federal incentive payments from the U.S. Government to improve the health care services delivered to members of the community.

Nature of the Study

Three types of research methodologies are available to researchers: qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods. Researchers use the qualitative research methodology to explore the *what*, *why*, and *how* during the research process (Yin, 2018). In addition, the qualitative research methodology involves using multiple techniques to collect data, such as personal interviews, observations, and review of documentation (Yin, 2018). Researchers use the qualitative method to search for addressing a research question (Smith, 2018). I used the qualitative research method because I explored strategies that hospital project managers use to adopt and implement EMR systems successfully to receive federal incentive payments. Researchers use the quantitative research method to answer questions about a phenomenon of interest by collecting and analyzing numerical data (Astroth & Chung, 2018). The quantitative method was not appropriate for my study because I was not testing hypotheses for examining the relationships or differences among variables. Researchers use the mixed methods research methodology that integrates quantitative and qualitative methods throughout all phases of a study (Jones et al., 2020). I did not use the mixed-methods research methodology because I did not test hypotheses for examining relationships or differences among variables and,

consequently, I did not need the quantitative aspect of the mixed-methods research methodology.

Researchers use case study, ethnographic, or phenomenological research designs to conduct business research (Yin, 2018). Researchers use the case study research design to conduct a more in-depth investigation of a topic to develop insights on a phenomenon (Duchatelet & Donche, 2022). In a case study, researchers explore a program, organization, process, or event by collecting data from various sources and use triangulation to explore convergence of findings among the different sources (Yin, 2018). I used the case study research design for this study because I conducted an in-depth review of a topic to offer insight on a phenomenon, which is the adoption and implementation of EMR systems. Researchers use an ethnographic research design as a means of engaging in ethical, meaningful, and culturally sensitive research with newcomer communities (Kassan et al., 2020). In addition, the researcher can immerse themselves in the cultural group for an extended period of time (Dorren & Van Dooren, 2021). I did not select the ethnographic research design because I did not study shared behavioral patterns, beliefs, and language of cultural groups, but rather I explored strategies that hospital project managers use to adopt and implement EMR systems successfully to receive federal incentive payments. Researchers use the phenomenological research design to capture as closely as possible the way in which the phenomenon is experienced within the context in which the experience takes place (Arnout et al., 2020). I did not select the phenomenological design because I did not seek to capture the meanings of participants' lived experiences with a particular phenomenon,

but rather to explore the what, how, and why of a phenomenon in its natural setting, which in this study was the successful adoption and implementation of EMR systems.

Research Question

What strategies do hospital project managers use to adopt and implement EMR systems successfully to receive federal incentive payments?

Interview Questions

- 1. What strategies have you used to adopt and implement EMR systems successfully?
- 2. What was the process to determine which EMR system to use in your organization?
- 3. How was the staff made aware of the change in the organization prior to the initial training of the EMR system?
- 4. How did you assess the effectiveness of the EMR from the users' perspective, including the clinical staff?
- 5. What training techniques did you use to train new clinical staff members for using the EMR system?
- 6. What strategies are in place to ensure the clinical staff members are using the EMR system accurately?
- 7. What were the key barriers to implementing the EMR system?
- 8. How did your organization address the key barriers to implementing the EMR system?

9. What additional information would you add regarding your experience in adopting and implementing the EMR system successfully that we have not discussed so far?

Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework for this study was Rogers' (1962) diffusion of innovation theory, which involves the dissemination of an innovation to all employees in the entire organization. The EMR systems represent a potential innovation to hospitals in which project managers have not implemented EMR systems. Rogers (2002) defined an innovation as the adoption of a change in a process or application. The five essential components of the diffusion of innovation theory are (a) innovation, (b) adopters, (c) communication channels, (d) time, and (e) social system (Rogers, 2002).

Parthasarathy et al. (2021) used diffusion of innovation theory as the foundation to explore the effective adoption and implementation of technological systems. More recently, El-Yafouri et al. (2022) used diffusion of innovation theory to explore needs of the end-user to increase adopt of an EMR systems. Because several researchers (El-Yafouri et al., 2022; Mijin et al., 2019; Parthasarathy et al., 2021) have used diffusion of innovation theory as a foundation to explore the effective adoption and implementation of EMR systems, I selected the diffusion of innovation theory to serve as a foundation to understand strategies hospital project managers use to adopt and implement EMR systems successfully to receive federal incentive payments. The EMR systems represent a potential innovation to hospitals in which project managers have not implemented EMR systems.

Operational Definitions

Continued adoption: A stage in the adoption process during implementation. The continued adoption of the innovation will warrant benefits or costs through the planned methods (Elison et al., 2014).

Electronic medical record (EMR): An electronic version of a patient's health record that can be accessed via an electronic device, such as a laptop or phone. The EMR system provides an effective method to access patients' record easily. The usage of EMR systems is a data source for clinical care that can link data sets to determine the impact on the populations health (Barbazza et al., 2021).

Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health (HITECH) Act: Congress passed this act as part of the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009. This act was to increase the use of EHRs within the health care industry within the United States. The adoption and usage of EHRs resulted in a monetary reward, while noncompliant providers faced a penalty (Gurtner, 2018).

Implementation: The process of putting a plan into effect. The implementation process for EMR systems usually take place in stages. Strategies are put into place to achieve cost and quality benefits and to achieve a reduction in Medicare expenditures (El-Yafouri et al., 2022).

Innovation: The implementation of a new improved product or process or a new method in business practices, workplace, or external relationships (Schuwer & Janssen, 2018).

Medicare and Medicaid EHR incentive program: A program designed for participants to receive financial bonuses for "meaningful use" to improve patient safety, care coordination and quality, efficiency of care, and public health reporting where participants were incentives to participate by establishing electronic workflows to improve health care quality and efficiency (Heisey-Grove et al., 2018).

Relative advantage: The degree to which individuals perceive an innovation as better than the idea it supersedes and can be measured in terms of convenience, economic terms, and social prestige (Hatch et al., 2020).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions

Assumptions are specific beliefs related to the study that a researcher believes to be true or valid for the purpose of the study (Ellis, 2019). The first assumption was that data collected during interviews would accurately reflect participants' experiences and that the participants would provide honest answers. To address this assumption, I purposively selected participants with knowledge and experience in the phenomenon under investigation. I also conducted member checking. The second assumption was that the use of the concept of EMR systems is universal across industries, cultures, and organizations. The third assumption was that data collected from participants could assist in answering the overarching research question. The fourth assumption was that the selection of the conceptual framework, research method, and research design were appropriate for this study.

Limitations

Limitations are those aspects of a study that a researcher cannot control (Creswell, 2009). The first limitation of this study was that only a few participants using the EMR system participated in this study. The second limitation was that the participants' willingness to implement the EMR system could have affected the results of this study. The third limitation was that conducting a study at one organization prevents me from making generalizations of the findings to the larger population.

Delimitations

Delimitations refer to the scope and boundaries of a study, as set by a researcher (Ellis, 2019). The first delimitation in this study was that I conducted in-depth, face-to-face interviews with only a few project managers of EMR systems at one organization. The second delimitation was that I interviewed only selected participants meeting the eligibility criteria. The third delimitation was that project managers of the participating hospital must have successfully implemented an EMR system. The fourth delimitation was the geographical location for this study, which took place in the State of Illinois.

Significance of the Study

Findings from this study may be of value to hospital project managers in the successful implementation of EMR systems in their organizations. Healthcare providers successfully implementing EMRs within the specific timelines qualify for federal incentives; EMR adoption rates for independent hospitals grew from 48% in 2008 to 77% by 2011 (Parthasarathy et al., 2021). Physicians and nurses have real-time patient data and easier access to information after EMR implementation (Rathert et al., 2019).

Physicians using an EMR system appear to improve accuracy of biomedical data capture and may improve patient engagement and effective medical treatment (Rathert et al., 2019). Implementing an EMR system can reduce error, improve quality of care, and improve order and receipt of lab tests as well as diagnostic images (Bisrat et al., 2021).

Contribution to Business Practice

The findings from this qualitative study focusing on hospital project managers' successful experiences may benefit healthcare leaders by giving them strategies to improve the success rates of EMR systems' adoption. Hospital project managers' peer-to-peer communication may assist other hospital project managers in understanding successful strategies used to adopt and implement EMR systems successfully to receive federal incentive payments (Parthasarathy et al., 2021). Healthcare organizations may benefit by reviewing and strengthening their internal practices. With poor internal practices, barriers can develop, including low user acceptance, poor project leadership, poor network connectivity, low staff awareness, lack of training and follow-up, and low level of commitment from the top management, which can impact implementation (Bisrat et al., 2021).

Government leaders may use the results from this study to achieve a higher EMR adoption rate. According to Kellermann and Jones (2013), the United States could save an estimated \$81 billion annually by using EMR systems. Organizations may experience cost savings by decreasing patient length of stay due to easy access to patients' records in the EMR systems (Lee et al., 2013).

Healthcare organizations and eligible professionals may benefit from the findings of this study by capitalizing on part of the \$30 billion in federal incentives approved in 2011 by the Medicare EHR Incentive Program of the CMS (Hsiao et al., 2013). In addition, healthcare organizations may benefit from this study by analyzing data generated from EMR systems to make more informed business decisions.

Implications for Social Change

Hospital leaders use EMR systems to share and track patients' records more effectively (Scott et al., 2019). Hospital project managers using EMR systems facilitate patients' understanding of what patients need to do within their treatment plan, which can reduce their time at the hospital (Lee et al., 2013). Less time spent in the hospital reduces expenses for patients and lost work time. Hospitals could use the federal incentive payments from the U.S. Government to improve the health care services delivered to members of the community.

Hospital project managers could take advantage of the social impact associated with the adoption and implementation of EMR systems, including obtaining clinical decision support, accuracy and legibility of medical records, patient safety and satisfaction, physician satisfaction, drug interaction warnings, critical data trend monitoring, and healthcare maintenance tasks (Cimino, 2013). Potential for improved patient care, coordination, and engagement of patients in their care are all benefits associated with patients having access to their healthcare records (Hsiao et al., 2013).

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

I reviewed the literature on the implementation of EMR systems published in various journals and seminal scholarly books. Google Scholar, linked to the Walden University Library's website, served as the primary source for accessing journal articles. The Walden University Library allows students access to various databases. Databases used to obtain literature for this study included ABI/INFORM Complete, Academic Search Complete, Business Source Complete, Emerald Management, ProQuest Central, and Sage Premier.

I accessed various open journals to obtain literature related to EMR systems. AOSIS OpenJournals provides open access to peer-reviewed scholarly journals from various academic disciplines. Similarly, ScienceDirect provided both tolled and open access to a full-text scientific database containing journal articles and book chapters. In some instances, I accessed government websites to obtain information about EMR systems.

The strategy for searching through existing literature entailed the use of keywords and phrases in the various databases listed above. I applied filters to database searches to narrow down the search results. These filters included specific keywords, a specified period, and specific databases. When using Google Scholar, I gave preference to articles published in or after 2018, ensuring the literature is topical and relevant. Secondly, I gave preference to articles that were available in the Walden University's Library.

The keywords and phrases I used in my search were *EMR systems*, implementation *EMR*, hospital *EMR*, successful *EMR*, *EMR streamline*, and *EMR* *benefits*. Crossref and Ulrich's Periodicals Directory are tools to verify that literature is peer-reviewed. The 125 references that this study contains include 107 scholarly peer-reviewed articles, representing 86% of the total, seven government websites, representing 5%, and 11 books, representing 9%. The total number of references in this study published within the 2018 to 2022 period is 80, which is 64% of the total number. The literature review contains 53 references, with 32 references published within the 2018 to 2022 period, representing 60%, and 49 from scholarly peer-reviewed sources, representing 92%.

Literature Review Organization

The literature review section has several subsections. It begins with an introduction, which includes information about the strategy for searching the literature, the frequencies, and percentages of peer-reviewed articles as well as publication dates. In the next section, I focus on the application of the literature to the research question and include a brief description of the purpose of the study. The themes I discuss in this literature review are as follows: strategies to successfully implement EMR systems, change management, and strategies hospital project managers use to manage resistance to change. Throughout the literature review, I compared and contrasted different points of view and relationships between previous research and findings with this study.

The first theme, strategies to successfully implement EMR systems, includes a critical analysis and synthesis of the conceptual framework I selected for my study, which is Rogers' (1962) diffusion of innovation theory, using supporting and contrasting theories from relevant literature on the topic of EMR systems. Some of the supporting

and contrasting theories are Ishikawa's (1968) fishbone diagram, Kotter's (1996) eightstage process for leading change model, resource dependence theory, and institutional theory.

The second theme, change management, starts with a brief overview of the development of EMR systems construct over time. I discuss common concerns relating to the construct as well as the various definitions, antecedents, and consequences of EMR systems. The third and final theme for discussion is strategies hospital project managers use to manage resistance to change. The theme starts with a general discussion about leadership and leadership styles related to EMR systems. Leadership styles reviewed include organizational leadership and motivational leadership.

Application to the Applied Business Problem

The purpose of this qualitative, single case study was to explore the strategies that hospital project managers use to adopt and implement EMR systems successfully to receive federal incentive payments. Developing an understanding of such strategies required a qualitative approach, more specifically an exploratory single case study. The findings from this study might provide insight into EMR systems from a group of leaders' perspectives.

The findings of this study may assist with the development of appropriate strategies for hospital project managers. Once an understanding of the underlying meaning emerges, appropriate strategies might equip leaders with the skills to improve the implementation of EMR systems. The findings from this study might improve business practice by identifying appropriate strategies, leading to increased productivity and organizational competitiveness. The potential for social change rests in the development of strategies to improve the implementation of EMR systems and personal well-being.

Diffusion of Innovation Theory

In this section, I present a discussion of research studies in which their authors used Rogers' (1962) diffusion of innovation theory to determine strategies that healthcare leaders use to adopt EMR systems effectively, among other areas. Organizational leaders can use diffusion of innovation theory to achieve a successful implementation process (Liebe et al., 2016). The adoption of innovation decision emerges from a group within the organization that has a higher hierarchy because business leaders should consider both technical and clinical knowledge for a successful adoption (Liebe et al., 2016). Liebe et al. (2016) analyzed the interaction between the chief information officer (CIO) and the director of nursing (DON) during an adoption process, with an emphasis on the awareness of knowledge and uniformity using Rogers' (1962) diffusion of innovation theory. Liebe et al. found there was a significant disagreement on awareness-knowledge between the CIOs and DONs. The understanding of the information technology (IT) portion was more apparent to the CIOs than the DONs; however, this understanding was not as apparent to the front-line staff.

For organizational leaders wanting to implement an EMR system, leaders should understand the way they are going to integrate this new process into their community and the way their key staff members are going to work together to be successful. When reviewing EMR system acceptance, innovativeness is a key construct (Cocosila & Archer, 2018). With a strong foundation in this implementation, organizations can then focus on the adopters and plan the implementation process.

Perception of both stakeholders and end-users are important during the initial phases of the adoption process; end-users' perception of the EMR can influence workplace culture, utilization, and success of implementation (Schwarzt et al., 2020). Another element is for healthcare leaders to identify champions. Champions can establish buy-in, reduce resistance to change, and create a culture of readiness and acceptance, which leads to greater success with an implementation (Woody, 2020). Overall, the implementation process consists of several components that need to be considered (Weagraff, 2016).

The workflow and process of healthcare workers continue to change with the integration of EHR systems. Organizations that are implementing EMR systems due to the federal mandate must bear the cost of training new nurses and health care providers (Samadbeik et al., 2020). A comprehensive project plan that consists of well-designed planning and training should be provided to staff (Weagraff, 2016). Some organizations use training-EMR systems to help assist their staff in the learning process. Identifying resources for teaching the EMR system can be beneficial to the organization to ensure stakeholders gain a full understanding of the EMR system (Samadbeik et al., 2020).

EMR systems are an innovative tool that disrupts the current work process, and adopters view this disruption either as a challenge or a complexity that is not needed (Vosko et al., 2021). The motivation of an adopter is a driving force in the implementation of EMR systems. Determining the type of adopter within the organization can help leaders understand an effective way to approach the adoption process. The adoption of innovation depends on the type of innovation, leaders' opinions, and the type of adopter (Vosko et al., 2021). Organizations should be aware of the driving force behind the adoption of EMR systems to provide a higher probability of success in the implementation process (Vosko et al., 2021).

Schuwer and Janssen (2018) conducted a study regarding the adoption of sharing and reusing learning materials in online courses. Schuwer and Janssen found that educators would share materials, but the materials would not be accessible for all users due to the mode used. A participant in the study had stated that anyone asking for the materials could have them, but there were no additional steps taken to ensure the materials could be accessible by all. Schuwer and Janssen considered motivation of both the educators and management during this study. Lack of understanding of the policy on sharing and reusing of materials played a role, as well as the uncertainty of whether there is value in sharing the materials. Educators were divided on the issue of whether spending time to make the material more accessible was beneficial. Overall, Schuwer and Janssen used Rogers' (2003) diffusion of innovation theory to conclude that individuals can be motivated to reduce the lack of knowledge about the advantages and disadvantages of the innovation.

Convenience, economic terms, and social prestige can make up the relative advantage used to measure an innovation (Rogers, 2003). The lack of knowledge of an innovation can cause different perceptions, and over adoption to occur where the desired outcome cannot be achieved (Radnejad & Osiyevskyy, 2020). Relative advantage can be the main predictor in determining the rate of adoption, benefits, and cost of adopting the innovation (Rogers, 2003).

The diffusion of innovation theory has been used in business-related studies. Hensmans (2021) conducted a study to rank types of innovation with the goal to give business organizations a competitive advantage. Hensmans found that business leaders use the innovation pyramid to organize their strategic innovations to align innovations to the business organization's goals. Business leaders could use the innovation pyramid to eliminate exaggerations when discussing the effect of disruptive innovations on organizational performance. Researchers have also used the diffusion of innovation theory in studies related to virtual learning. Azman et al. (2021) used diffusion of innovation theory to explore teachers' perceptions regarding virtual learning during the COVID-19 pandemic. Azman et al. conducted their study using a cross-sectional survey administered to teachers required to teach online during the COVID-19 pandemic. Azman et al. found that adopting an innovation in the teaching arena requires adopters to consider the five factors of the diffusion of innovation theory: perceived relative advantage, perceived compatibility, perceived complexity, perceived trialability, and perceived observability. Awad et al. (2022) also identified factors affecting learners' intentions to use e-learning during the COVID-19 pandemic. Awad et al. developed a research model by combining the diffusion of innovation theory, Delone and McLean's (1992) model, and COVID-19 perceived risk and self-efficacy as contextual factors. Delone and McLean used Smart PLS 2 to assess the model they proposed. Delone and Mclean found the following factors to have a direct significant effect on learners'

continued intentions to use the innovation: relative advantage, COVID-19 perceived risk, compatibility, and satisfaction.

The diffusion of innovation theory has also been used in the online shopping environment. Lee et al. (2021) used the diffusion of innovation theory to demonstrate the way an innovation, which is online shopping, can be diffused and become successful. Lee et al. conducted statistical analyses and found that compatibility, relative advantage, and observability had a positive effect on the participants' responses. Lee et al. recommended that business leaders desiring to disseminate information to the potential customers faster could buy online keyword marketing services and use the appropriate keyword string, allowing more potential customers to search for their products through keywords or related words.

Researchers have used the diffusion of innovation theory in supply chain. Hartley et al. (2022) conducted a study to examine the adoption of blockchain to take advantage of its supply chain benefits. Hartley et al. used content analysis and found that business organizations understanding blockchain's relative advantage, complexity, and compatibility and feeling the pressure to adopt blockchain supply chain applications seek more intensively information related to blockchain adoption.

Rogers' (1962) diffusion of innovation theory has also been used in studies related to financial technology. Okoli and Tewari (2021) conducted a study to investigate the adoption process of a nonlinear/inverted U-shaped Fintech in 32 countries in African in the 2002 to 2018 period. Okoli and Tewari found that the adoption of Fintech in Africa does not mirror the inverted U-shaped process if it is supported by trade openness. The implication of the findings of this study are that the adoption of Fintech will first grow during the beginning stages after invention, achieve a threshold point, and begin to decline when new technology better than Fintech is invented. African countries' financial institutions need to become more innovative to gain a competitive advantage.

Researchers have also used the diffusion of innovations theory in the accounting curricula in college. Dow et al. (2021) used Rogers' (1962) diffusion of innovation theory's five stages to integrate data analytics into the college accounting curriculum, which are knowledge, persuasion, decision, implementation, and confirmation. Data analytics are now affecting most accounting firms, producing a significant effect on college curricula. Dow et al. recommended that faculty would integrate free tools, questions, and cases to integrate data analytics into the accounting curriculum.

Researchers have also used Rogers' (1962) diffusion of innovation theory to conduct studies related to cryptocurrency investing, recognizing that cryptocurrency is growing at an unprecedented pace and that investors continue to be skeptical about investing in cryptocurrency, Bharadwaj and Deka (2021) examined the behavioral intentions of Generation Z Indians regarding investing in cryptocurrencies. Bharadwaj and Deka analyzed the behavior of 392 study participants using the street-intercept data collection method, which was later tested with structural equation modeling. Bharadwaj and Deka found that compatibility, observability, and complexity affected perceived usefulness and ease of use, which ultimately affected behavioral intention.

Researchers have used Rogers' (1962) diffusion of innovation theory in massive open online courses (MOOCs) systems. Al-Rahmi et al. (2021) conducted a quantitative study to examine factors that affect behavioral intentions of learners to use a MOOCs system. Al-Rahmi et al. used the technology acceptance model and the diffusion of innovation theory to propose a new technology acceptance model. Data were collected from 1,148 learners using a MOOCs system. Al-Rahmi et al. found that intricacy, relative advantages, compatibility, observability, trialability, and perceived enjoyment have an important effect on the perceived ease of use of the MOOCs system. Al-Rahmi et al. recommended a new model, consisting of a combination of technology acceptance model and the diffusion of innovation theory, which should be used for prolonged periods of time to improve learners' performance.

Rogers' (1962) diffusion of innovation theory has also been used in Facebook. Kao et al. (2021) conducted a study to generate a theoretical model of Facebook fan-page development and simulate the trend of Facebook fan-page development, with the goal of providing Facebook operators with a reference of the use of fan pages. Kao et al. found that a Facebook fan page could produce interaction and connection with fans and establish communication between customers and the business organizations, resulting in the development of an innovative marketing platform to increase sales.

Rogers' (1962) diffusion of innovation theory has been the focus of research studies in the area of Internet of Things, which has the potential to becoming a new technological platform to provide innovative applications and services addressing various levels of technology adoption. Lu (2021) conducted a study to examine six potential reasons of users' adoption of the Internet of Things platform. Lu found that participants' perceived traits of an innovation, Internet of Things, played a role in the differences in users' intentions to use the innovation. Users reported a compatibility concern between current system and the Internet of Things.

The diffusion of digital skills in fostering the architecture, engineering, and construction industry is another area in which researchers used Rogers' (1962) diffusion of innovation theory. Karampour et al. (2021) conducted a study to determine digital skills diffusion through building information modelling adoption and to design feasible strategies for such adoption. Karampour et al. found the clients' lack of knowledge as the most critical challenge to building information modelling adoption in the architecture, engineering, and construction industry.

Other Contrasting and Supporting Theories

Identifying the root cause for the challenges that leaders face during the implementation can give meaning and creditability to the process (Rumeser & Emsley, 2016). Similar to Rogers' (1962) diffusion of innovation theory, leaders could apply Ishikawa's (1968) fishbone model to the implementation process. Rumeser and Emsley (2016) applied Ishikawa's fishbone model when reviewing two case studies to determine the challenges faced in the implementation process. Three main categories emerged, which are shifting the mental model, stakeholders directing the change, and understanding of the model.

Rumeser and Emsley (2016) found that the lack of understanding of the value and confidence in the product and of involvement from the stakeholders were the root causes for unsuccessful implementation. Rumeser and Emsley stated that the success of an implementation would come from managing the people and not the model. Comparable to Rogers' (1962) diffusion of innovation theory, leaders could use Ishikawa's (1968) fishbone model as framework for the implementation process.

Organizations may have additional influence outside of the adopter to consider when implementing an EMR system. Hospitals have an increased pressure to introduce EMR systems even with a lack of capabilities with their current technology (Fareed, et al., 2015). Organizations can depend on the proper resources to be successful in their implementation. Pfeffer and Salancik (1978) introduced the resource dependence theory and its premise is that external resources of the organization affect the behavior of the organization. Hospitals are dependent on the shareholders to provide the necessary resources to implement the innovation. Similar to Rogers' (1962) diffusion of innovation theory, the resource dependence theory aligns with factors that assist with the implementation process.

Fareed et al. (2015) conducted a study on short-term hospitals to review the effect that organizational theory-specific predictors have on institutional pressures hospitals have to comply with the mandated transitioning to an EMR system. Fareed et al. found that there were other factors to consider in the implementation process, such as underlying causes and influence of control on the pressures. Organizations that had the resources for adopting the EMR systems during the study period may have been compliant due to their technical capabilities over other hospitals (Fareed et al., 2015). Technology is an essential resource that connects other resources, such as patients and money (Fareed et al., 2015). Pressures from organizations can be a major challenge. Kotter's (1996) eightstage process of creating major change is a model that organizational leaders use to manage change that can be found across the organization (Pollack & Pollack, 2015). Kotter's (1996) eight-stage process model was created by John Kotter as a framework for organizations to manage change. Comparable to Rogers' (1962) diffusion of innovation theory, organizational leaders could use Kotter's (1996) eight-stage model to guide organizations through transformations, such as the implementation process of EMR systems.

A study was conducted at an Australian organization with 10,000 employees that span across the globe. The researchers used Kotter's (1996) eight-stage process to complete this change within their organization. The researchers found that Kotter's (1996) eight-stage process was effective to make the major change in the Australian organization; however, some adopters needed adaptions to better accommodate the change (Pollack & Pollack, 2015). Kotter's eight-stage process has overlapping stages with each moving at different rates and leaders implementing an EMR system should consider these factors when implementing an EMR system.

Kotter's (1996) eight-stage process can be applied to the implementation of changes in healthcare. Collective leadership among all levels can help build a culture of learning and trust, which can lead to improvements in the organization (Lv & Zhange, 2017). Rogers' (1962) diffusion of innovation theory is similar to Kotter's (1996) eightstage process in communicating to the staff changes that will take place with the innovation. Building trust among the employees can provide the necessary environment for changes (Lv & Zhange, 2017).

Diffusion, dissemination, and adoption make up the implementation process. Kotter's (1996) eight-stage process starts with urgency initially and then creates a collective leadership that focuses on the engagement of the staff in the change process. Through vision and strategy, leaders motivate the staff to make the necessary changes in the implementation process (Lv & Zhange, 2017). Leaders using effective communication assist the staff in understanding the goals and direction of the collective leadership (Lv & Zhange, 2017). Kotter's (1996) eight-stage process showcases a framework that leaders can follow to have a successful implementation process.

Understanding the adopter can guide leaders in the proper method of implementing a new system. DiMaggio and Powell (1983) developed the framework for the institutional theory, which can assist leaders in the adoption process. The institutional theory (DiMaggio & Powell, 1983) consists of processes that establish a guideline for social behavior (Krell et al., 2016). Krell et al. (2016) applied the institutional theory (DiMaggio & Powell, 1983) as a framework on Australian firms to determine if institutional pressers affect the determinants. The determinants consisted of the project management approach and the project team competence.

Krell et al. (2016) reviewed three institutional pressures of institutional theory (DiMaggio & Powell, 1983): coercive, mimetic, and normative pressure. Krell at al. were able to study how the institutional pressures impact the adoption process and concluded that the level of motivation of the firm impacted the success of the project. Coercive, mimetic, and normative pressures had a positive effect on one of the determinants. Krell et al. were able to provide leaders with insight to the adoption process by correlating successful adoptions to motives.

Organizational leaders could use institutional theory (DiMaggio & Powell, 1983) to understand the way institutions influence the use of technology. Thorseng and Grisot (2017) conducted a study to determine the relationship between technology and institutional change from the view of institutional work. Individuals and organizations focus on routine and put effort into maintaining the institution without disruption (Thorseng & Grisot, 2017). Thorseng and Grisot conducted a study on a Norway hospital to analyze the activities of a team while they changed their practices on diabetic care.

The team in the Norway hospital digitalized its software for their diabetic care. The institutional perspective consisted of a better tool for their patients that they could own and use autonomously (Thorseng & Grisot, 2017). Therefore, Thorseng and Grisot (2017) concluded that the institutional change influenced the digitalization process and affected the institution on diabetes care. Because the team desired to make a better tool for its patients, the team had the drive to make the institutional change. Individuals could use the institutional theory (DiMaggio & Powell, 1983) to comprehend that the external pressures to adopt can impact the success of the implementation. Decision makers can use institutional theory to have a clear understanding of environmental pressures, organizational and human factors when adopting EMR systems (Ahmadi et al., 2018).

Ahmadi et al. (2018) conducted a study on 137 Malaysian hospitals to determine if hospital size on inter and intra-organizational factors of EMR systems has an impact on
adoption. Malaysian hospitals have focused on adopting EMR systems to maintain international standards in healthcare services and customers' satisfaction (Ahmadi et al., 2018). Outpatient care provides a large share of hospital revenue, and the competition is high among hospitals (Ahmadi et al., 2018). The competition provided a motivator for the hospitals to be successful with their adoption (Ahmadi et al., 2018).

Strategies to Successfully Implement EMR Systems

Organizational leaders can use different strategies during an implementation of EMR systems to be successful. Project managers can use Rogers' (1962) diffusion of innovation theory as a framework for the adoption process of EMR systems. The diffusion of innovation theory (Rogers, 1962) consists of five components: innovation, adopters, communication channels, time, and social system. By reviewing these five components, project managers can prepare for the implementation process.

Organizations need to prepare for the implementation process. In implementation of EMR systems, it is estimated that most projects are typically 100% over budget and a year behind schedule (Goodison, 2019). Organizations should have a comprehensive plan to prevent unnecessary costs. Implementation can stall when decision-makers lack information on the cost and upkeep of an EMR system (Huebschmann et al., 2022). Implementation cost should be considered pre-implementation, implementation, and sustainment; the cost of staff time to deliver and implementation strategy should be considered pre and during implementation, while ongoing system cost in the sustainment phase should be considered (Huebschmann et al., 2022). Adopters need to be aware of the innovation and its impact on their organizations. Clear measurable objectives, an outlined implementation process that is specific to the organization, clear roles, and division of labor should be established by executive leaders to build trusting relationships (Fennelly et al., 2020). Efficient communication should be established by strong leadership to conduct project management techniques while establishing the outline to the implementation, alongside training (Yaseen et al., 2022). Leadership engagement and support is key to a successful implementation project, as understanding and buy-in can be gained by maintaining open communication with organizational leadership (Yaseen et al., 2022).

Staff concerns can lead to difficulties if organizational leadership does not provide an understanding of the implementation with a focus in change of workflow (Priestman et al., 2018). Early communication with key stakeholders, support by peers, on-site technical assistance, and comprehensive staff training can improve the success of the implementation (Hamann & Bezboruah, 2020). Managers needs to be aware of the implementation process to provide support to the front-line staff. Staff resistance can increase with usability during the implementation process if the end-user does not feel engaged in the decision to implement and, as a result, could continue to worsen after the go-live phase (Priestman et al., 2018).

Institutional pressures impact the adoption process and can impact the success of the project (Krell et al., 2016). Rogers' (1962) diffusion of innovation theory outlines that the adopter needs to evaluate and determine if the new process is better than the previous practice. An adopter sees the innovation positively if the innovation is a better process than the system that is in place (Rumeser & Emsley, 2016). Personal attitudes toward innovation, time required for the change in processes, and available support are factors that adopters consider when there is a process change (Mijin et al., 2019). Project managers need to anticipate barriers that can occur in the project and to identify the different needs adopters may require for a successful implementation (Porter et al., 2016).

End-user involvement is essential during each stage of the implementation process. Champions should be appointed to engage end-users and ensure end-users' needs are met (Fennelly et al., 2020). Leaders and champions can assist adopters and provide guidance during the process change. Champions should be well respected among their peers and have the knowledge to bridge the gap between end-users and IT staff (Fennelly et al., 2020). Champions can provide insight to the project manager on challenges the adopters are facing (Mount & Anderson, 2015). Successful practices include adopters having a positive attitude on the implementation process and recognizing the value of the EMR system (Mijin et al., 2019).

External resources of the organization affect the behavior of the organization and hospitals are dependent on the shareholders to provide the necessary resources to implement the innovation (Pfeffer & Salancik, 1978). Project managers need to determine the time and resources that will be provided to adopters to implement the EMR system. Providing several education opportunities and review sessions for the adopters to ask questions on the EMR system will allow adopters ample time to familiarize themselves with the new process (Tetef, 2017). A help desk service can provide an open

communication with the adopters, which increases adopters' experience and satisfaction with the EMR system (Fennelly et al., 2020).

Project managers should rollout the implementation of an EMR system in phases, which would allow the staff sufficient time to learn different components of the system. By pausing in-between phases of the implementation process, the adopters can relay questions and concerns that are occurring (Tetef, 2017). Short-term goals that the staff could achieve promote confidence in the new process (Lv & Zhange, 2017).

Project managers need to review the timeline for the implementation process to ensure there are systems in place to maintain the success throughout the project. Leaders need to establish accountability to ensure project ownership when challenges arise (Seijits & Gandz, 2018). Transparency in the organization promotes progress and, by recognizing individual staff, leaders are able to motivate employees to maintain the success (Mount & Anderson, 2015).

Change Management

The implementation of an EMR system involves the organization to adopt and make the necessary changes to be successful. Project managers should determine the root cause for the implementation to identify the challenges that may arise (Rumeser & Emsley, 2016). The implementation of an EMR system can have overlapping stages, each moving at different rates, which affects the adopter and the organization (Kotter, 1996). Project managers need to prepare for barriers that can hinder the success of the implementation process. In the event that project managers have a complex system to implement, projects are successful when project managers do not factor all the components of the project initially and view it in a simpler way (Rumeser & Emsley, 2016).

Project managers should start by creating a sense of urgency. Project managers must make everyone in the organization aware of the needed change to ensure the adopters understand the need for the change; urgency can be critical in gaining cooperation for the adopters because complacency is a common factor in the resistance for change (Kotter, 2008). Setting up the project with a vision can help adopters understand the need for the change and promote a smoother implementation process (Lv & Zhange, 2017). Discussions should take place in the organization before the implementation takes place to allow leaders and adopters to provide feedback on the process, which can help project managers overcome the barriers that might emerge once the implementation process starts (Lv & Zhange, 2017).

Up-front communication with leaders and adopters provides time for them to understand, question, and support the innovation (Leggott et al., 2016). Project managers should create a coalition of key people sharing the same goal for the implementation process (Seijits & Gandz, 2018). Project managers cannot lead the change process alone; instead, they need a group to convince others that the proposed change is beneficial (Kotter, 1996). Project managers need a team that can assist with the decision-making process. The team should consist of main organizational leaders, people with different perspectives on the project, staff with established reputations, and driven leaders able to drive the process (Lv & Zhange, 2017). Individuals build a trusting relationship in an organization if an effective coalition is in place because a trusting culture has an easier time with transitioning through change (Lv & Zhange, 2017).

Project managers need to develop a strategy to have a successful implementation. The organization needs to support the changes and help initiate actions that are necessary to move the implementation into action (Seijits & Gandz, 2018). An agreed upon vision needs to be established throughout the organization to eliminate disagreements or confusion that can create barriers to a successful implementation (Lv & Zhange, 2017). A strategy with a timeline becomes tangible, eliminating the idea that the implementation is an internalized discussion (Eriksson & Fundin, 2018). Project managers should set a strategy that aligns with the organization's culture and is feasible for the organization to achieve (Lv & Zhange, 2017).

The strategy should be presented to the leaders and adopters in a way that allows them to understand the implementation process. Communication is a process that takes time and may need to be provided in different media to be effective (Eriksson & Fundin, 2018). Project managers can underestimate the amount of communication required to develop a consistent understanding (Kotter, 1996). Project managers need to explain the reason behind the change in an honest and effective manner to get the leaders and adopters to buy into the change (Lv & Zhange, 2017). Communication needs to be consistent and frequent to ensure the message is delivered in a clear and concise manner to set expectations (Mount & Anderson, 2015).

Obstacles need to be removed to achieve change, which can entail structures or systems that do not align with the vision (Kotter, 1996). Structural, skills, systems, and

supervisors are obstacles that create barriers in the implementation process (Lv & Zhange, 2017). Project managers need to address these barriers by providing effective training and evaluating the capability of their staff (Lv & Zhange, 2017). Alternative forms of training may need to be provided for the adopters' more complex learning needs (Herbert & Connors, 2016). External support is critical for a successful EMR implementation and internal support from super-users, also known as champions, help end-users optimize their use of the EMR (Fennelly et al., 2020).

Leaders establish short-term wins to bring credibility to the implementation process (Seijits & Gandz, 2018). The short-term win can showcase the change taking place in the organization and continue momentum throughout the stages of the project (Kotter, 1996). Leaders and adopters can gain confidence during the change process by receiving recognition that they are doing well (Lv & Zhange, 2017). Being transparent on the performance outcomes can help motivate leaders and adopters and keep a focus on the overall goal (Mount & Anderson, 2015).

The change within the organization can be a long process. Project managers need to establish the implementation process as part of the organizational culture to maintain the change in the long term (Lv & Zhange, 2017). Without a strong foundation, leaders and adopters can revert to old practices, which will hinder the project from being successful (Seijits & Gandz, 2018). Leaders will need to adjust as the project continues. Transparency and shared discussions to establish real-time modifications will improve the success of the implementation process (Mount & Anderson, 2015). Senior leaders must maintain the level of urgency and shared vision to ensure the change continues, especially with change in internal team members (Lv & Zhange, 2017).

Strategies Hospital Project Managers Use to Manage Resistance to Change

Resistance to change can occur among adopters during the implementation process. In the diffusion of innovation theory, Rogers (2003) described five factors that influence an adopter's decision to adopt or reject an innovation: relative advantage, compatibility, complexity, trialability, and observability. Project managers need to have strategies in place to manage the resistance to change that may emerge from the adopters (Rogers, 2003).

Relative advantage can be the main predictor in determining the rate of adoption, benefits, and cost to adopt the innovation (Rogers, 2003). Organizational leaders need to establish strategies to handle attitudes and behaviors and to recognize individuals leading the organization to success from the implementation process (Mijin et al., 2019). The adopter needs to perceive the innovation as better than the previous application. Adopters finding the innovation to save time and effort with immediate results can reduce resistance (Priestman et al., 2018). Adopters that see the change as unnecessary can feel disinterested in the innovation, which can impact the success of the implementation process. Communication to the adopters can provide clarity to the purpose for the change (Tetef, 2017). Project managers need to have a well-designed plan in place to keep the staff engaged in the process and foster the new culture of the organization (Lv & Zhange, 2017). Leaders could use incentives to produce a higher relative advantage of the innovation, which can influence other adopters' behavior related to the implementation process (Hamann & Bezboruah, 2020).

Organizations that are implementing EMR systems need to ensure the process aligns with their existing values, needs, and experiences to increase the compatibility among adopters (Chan et al., 2016). Adopters undertaking the implementation process can see an increase in work due to the adjustment of the organizational change, which can result in adopters wanting to leave (Barrett, 2018). Project managers need to have support available to assist with this barrier (Chan et al., 2016).

Leaders identify nurse champions based on leadership skills and their influence on peers during the implementation process (Mount & Anderson, 2015). Champions provide a strong coaching environment for end-users and allow for communication between champion and provider (Weagraff, 2016). Champions can provide insight to the project manager on challenges the adopters are facing (Mount & Anderson, 2015).

Resistance to change can derive from the complexity of the innovation. The adopter can perceive the implementation of the EMR system to be very difficult to use and resist the implementation (Priestman et al., 2018). Project managers need to prepare the adopters with the knowledge and skill to be successful in the implementation process (Herbert & Connors, 2016). Providing effective trainings to the adopters can result in empowered staff, resulting in less resistance to change (Lv & Zhange, 2017). Providing competency reviews on an annual basis can increase the success of the implementation in the long-term (Tetef, 2017).

Project managers need to determine the resources that they will provide to adopters during the implementation process. Project managers should consider the resources required for training, program development, and technology support (Herbert & Connors, 2016). Leaders could provide outside resources to adopters to provide reassurance during the implementation process. A common resource for EMR systems is help desk operators assisting adopters during the implementation process, which improves the adopters' experience and satisfaction (Ngugi et al., 2021). Technical and peer support should be available around the clock, as external parties and professional networks are crucial in providing support (Fennelly et al., 2020).

Adopters can feel uncertainty about their job security and role within the organization when change takes place (Barrett, 2018). The implementation of the EMR systems will require the adopters to learn and adjust to the technology itself while adjusting to the organizational change (Barrett, 2018). Communication is key during the implementation process to ensure the project managers and adopters understand the required steps for the implementation. Project managers need to answer questions and concerns ahead of time to communicate the changes to the adopters (Tetef, 2017). Project managers should allow adopters to have access to the innovation prior to the adoption. Trialability allows adopters to experiment with the innovation on a limited basis and has a positive influence on the implementation process (Azman et al., 2021). Trialability of the innovation reduces uncertainty and allows adopters to assist with the customization of the implementation process (Al-Rahmi et al., 2021). Adopters should have multiple opportunities to interact with the innovation to attain a progressive competency (Herbert

& Connors, 2016). Adopters can determine the benefits of the innovation when given access prior to the implementation process (Chan et al., 2016).

Project managers need to show the benefits and results of the innovation during the implementation process to ensure observability (Priestman et al., 2018). Making adopters aware of short-term wins can bring credibility to the implementation process (Seijits & Gandz, 2018). Adopters need visibility of the innovation because the lack of visibility can result in a higher risk that the implementation process would fail (Penjor & Zander, 2016). Adopters not feeling part of the decision to implement the new system can increase resistance to the implementation (Priestman et al., 2018). Strong leadership needs to be present to influence the success of the adoption and provide effective communication (Yaseen et al., 2022).

Transition

In Section 1, the following topics were presented: background of the problem; problem statement; purpose statement; nature of the study; research question; interview questions; conceptual framework; operational definitions; and assumptions, limitations and delimitations. The significance of the study was explained with future details on the contribution to business practices and implications for social change. A review of the professional and academic literature for this study was completed.

In Section 2, the following topics will be presented: purpose statement, role of the researcher, participants, and the research method and design. The objective will be to discuss the research process, which includes population and sampling, ethical research, data collection instruments and technique, data organization techniques, data analysis,

and reliability and validity. In Section 3, the following topics will be presented: presentation and analysis of the findings, applications to professional practice, implications for social change, recommendations for action and further research, reflection, and conclusion.

Section 2: The Project

In Section 2, I present the following subsections: purpose statements, role of the researcher, participants, and the research method and design. I will also discuss the research process, which includes population and sampling, ethical research, data collection instruments and technique, data organization techniques, data analysis, and reliability and validity.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore strategies that hospital project managers use to adopt and implement EMR systems successfully to receive federal incentive payments. The target population for this study consisted of three project managers in a single hospital in Illinois with successful experience in adopting and implementing EMR systems successfully to receive federal incentive payments. The implications for positive social change include the potential to reduce patients' time in the hospital. Hospitals could use the federal incentive payments from the U.S. Government to improve the health care services delivered to members of the community.

Role of the Researcher

Researchers have a variety of roles when conducting studies, including the identification and access to study participants, development of rapport with participants, organization of the research process, execution of the research study, the collection and analysis of data, and the presentation of study results (Yates & Leggett, 2016). I was the primary research instrument in this study. I was responsible for all steps in the research process, which are the (a) definition of concepts, (b) collection of data from various

sources, (c) conduction and transcription of interviews, (d) analysis of data collected, and (e) development of emerging themes, as Sanjari et al. (2014) recommended. I interacted with hospital leaders to develop a list of prospective hospital managers meeting the established eligibility criteria for this study. I sent emails and made phone calls to invite them to participate in this study.

I work in the healthcare field, which allows a realistic perspective on how adopters handle internal changes. My personal experience implementing EMR systems gives me insight on the implementation process and complications that can occur. When developing my interview questions, I thought of previous issues that occurred and questions that my team would ask prior to the implementation process. My knowledge of the implementation process and healthcare practices assisted me in gathering a sample population willing to provide their experiences related to the successful adoption and implementation of EMR systems to receive federal incentive payments.

Researchers must adhere to ethical standards, guidelines, and codes that review boards and professional associations enforce (Rakic et al., 2017). Informed consent, withdrawal from the study, confidentiality, and anonymity are ethical considerations that researchers should consider when conducting social research (Ngozwana, 2018). Researchers should conduct their research in an ethicial manner and have a moral obligation to avoid any harm to participants during the study (Ngozwana, 2018); they should also adhere to the guidelines *The Belmont Report* protocol contains (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1979). *The Belmont Report* consists of three basic ethical principles: respect for persons, beneficence, and justice (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1979). *Respect for persons* consists of two components, which are that the participants should be treated as autonomous agents and are entitled to protection and recognizing that some participants may have reduced autonomy (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1979). For *beneficence*, the researcher should not harm the participants and should maximize the benefits to participants for their willingness to a participate in the study (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1979). Lastly, *justice* refers to researchers treating participants fairly regarding the potential harm and benefits to participants (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical Research, 1979).

Researchers must adhere to *The Belmont Report's* ethical principles, including informed consent, risks and benefits assessment, and the selection of research subjects (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1979). Researchers need to adhere to inform consent, which consists of disclosure and comprehension of information and the voluntary nature of participation (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1979). Researchers must explain the informed consent principle to study participants and secure informed consent forms signed by study participants before starting the research process (Yin, 2018). It was my responsibility to adhere to the ethical principles contained in *The Belmont Report* protocol, requirements of the Institutional Review Board (IRB), and any additional ethical requirements of the participating organization. I began data collection in this study after I received permission from the IRB. I explained the informed consent form and process to participants and securing participants signed and dated informed consent forms before conducting my research to ensure ethical practices occur in my research study. I reminded participants that participation was voluntary and that they could withdraw from the study at any stage without any negative consequences. To conclude, I ensured confidentiality of information.

Avoiding bias in the research process can be challenging due to researchers having a biased opinion on the outcome of the study (Karagiozis, 2018). Researchers recommend to other researchers not to introduce additional biases to eliminate already an already existing bias (Karagiozis, 2018). To avoid bias, the reseacher should use member checking, which allows participants the opportunity to see what the researcher understood from the participants' anwers to interview questions (Rakic et al., 2017). I used member checking to avoid biases by allowing the participants to review my interpretation of their answers to interview questions to verify the accuracy of my interpretations. By recording the assumptions and limitations of my study, I gave the reader the necessary information to assess the reliability and validity of my study.

Researchers use an interview protocol to ensure the interview process is comprehensive and consistent in the time allotted, which can increase the effectiveness of the interview (Yin, 2018). The interview protocol can include important information, such as interview procedures, script of introduction and conclusion, text to ask participants to obtain signed informed consent forms, interview questions, and prompts (Yeung et al., 2018). To ensure I obtained quality interview data, I used an interview protocol (see Appendix A) to guide me through the interview process and ensure I gave the same information to all participants.

Participants

Researchers need to identify suitable participants before the start of the data collection process (Sanjari et al., 2014). The participant eligibility criteria must align with the research study's overarching research question (Yeung et al., 2018). Researchers can encounter several challenges when conducting research, such as identifying a suitable organization, gaining access to the organization, and obtaining consent from participants to partake in the research study (Yin, 2018). Participant eligibility criteria are the requirements participants must meet to qualify for participation in a research study (Yeung et al., 2018). If participants possess successful experience in, and knowledge of, the phenomenon being studied, participants become eligible to participate in a research study (Yates & Leggett, 2016).

I determined participant eligibility criteria based on the participants' experience using strategies that hospital project managers employ to adopt and implement EMR systems successfully to receive federal incentive payments. Participants became eligible if they possessed at least 2 years of successful experience in adopting and implementing an EMR system to receive federal incentive payments. I purposively selected project managers for this study from a hospital in Illinois. These hospital project managers became appropriate for this study because of their successful experience in adopting and implementing EMR systems to receive federal incentive payments.

Locating a suitable organization and obtaining access to participants can be challenging when conducting research studies (Ahmadi et al., 2018). Researchers can work with organizational personal, network with healthcare providers, use several recruitment tools, and attend healthcare conferences to overcome this challenge (Yates & Leggett, 2016). Henderson (2018) discussed the relationship between participants and researchers and how assumptions can be revealed about the researcher based on the participants selected and location of the research study. Building rapport with key organizational personnel allowed me to gain access to participants because I shared with key personnel the purpose of my study and the participant eligibility criteria.

For the research study to be successful, researchers need to gain the trust and acceptance of the participants in the study (Karagiozis, 2018). Building rapport with participants can provide rich and thick data (Henderson, 2018). Researchers engaging with participants on a consistent basis is a way to secure the participants' trust and build rapport (Ngozwana, 2018). I used the strategy of engaging with participants on a consistent basis to secure trust and build rapport with the participants of my study, which led to the collection of rich and thick data.

Selecting an appropriate research design is essential to ensure the overarching research question aligns with participants (Sanjari et al., 2014). Researchers use the participant eligibility criteria to identify participants with successful experience and ample knowledge related to the phenomenon under investigation to be able to answer the

overarching research question (Yeung et al., 2018). I aligned participants with the overarching research question by selecting suitable participants with successful experience and ample knowledge related to the adoption and implementation of EMR systems to receive federal incentive payments.

Research Method and Design

Research Method

Yin (2018) described three research methodologies, which are qualitative, quantitative, and mixed. Researchers conduct a qualitative study when they need to understand a phenomenon in its natural setting (Sanjari et al., 2014). Yin (2018) described qualitative research as a method to explore the *what*, *why*, and *how* of a phenomenon in its natural setting. I used the qualitative research method because it was my intent to explore the *what*, *why*, and *how* of a particular phenomenon which, for this case study, was exploring strategies hospital project managers use to adopt and implement EMR systems successfully to receive federal incentive payments.

Researchers use the quantitative research method to examine relationships among variables, using measuring techniques and controls to ensure study validity (Astroth & Chung, 2018). Researchers use the quantitative research method to test hypotheses on relationships or differences among variables (Astroth & Chung, 2018). The quantitative method was not appropriate for my study because my goal was not to examine relationships among variables using statistical analyses through hypotheses testing. In the event that researchers combine the qualitative and quantitative methods in a single study, the appropriate research methodology to use is the mixed method (Yin, 2018). The mixed

method is suitable when researchers need to use both inductive and deductive reasoning (Yin, 2018). I did not use the mixed-method research methodology because my focus was not to examine relationships among variables using statistical analyses through hypotheses testing.

Research Design

I considered four qualitative research designs for this study, which are narrative, phenomenological, ethnographic, and case study. The narrative design is an account of an event or series of events, chronologically connected as told by an individual (Saunders et al., 2015). I did not use the narrative research design because I did not focus on participants' experiences relayed through their personal stories. Researchers use the phenomenological design to collect participants' lived experiences regarding the phenomenon under study (Yin, 2018). I did not select the phenomenological design for this study because I did not collect participants' lived experiences about the phenonemon under investigation. Researchers use the ethnographic research design to conduct an indepth exploration of a community's cultural and social aspects (Saunders et al., 2015). I did not select the ethnographic design because my focus was not on the exploration of the values, behaviors, beliefs, and languages of members of a community. Exploring realworld business situations in business and management research requires the use of the case study design (Duchatelet & Donche, 2022). Researchers use the case study design to explore phenomena in their natural setting and conduct methodological triangulation, using a variety of data sources, increasing the validity of the research study (Yates & Leggett, 2016). I used the case study design to explore phenomena in their natural setting, which for this study was exploring strategies hospital project managers use to adopt and implement EMR systems successfully to receive federal incentive payments.

Population and Sampling

Researchers use several types of sampling methods, including convenience, snowball, maximum variation, and purposeful (Yin, 2018). A phase of purposeful sampling entails establishing a selection criterion for participants meeting eligibility standards to address the overarching research question (Gall et al., 2007). Sample size should be purposeful to provide richness and relevance to the study (Yin, 2018). Researchers use purposive sampling to select participants meeting the established criteria to obtain rich data related to the phenomenon under investigation (Gall et al., 2007; Hüseyin et al., 2019). I used purposive sampling to select participants meeting the participating criteria to obtain rich data related to the phenomenon under investigation, which for this study was the effective adoption and implementation of EMR systems to receive federal incentive payments.

I collected data from three project managers in a single hospital in Illinois with successful experience in adopting and implementing EMR systems successfully to receive federal incentive payments. Researchers decide the appropriate sample size by acknowledging the exploratory nature of the study, richness and thickness of data, and generalizability to the larger population (Moser & Korstjens, 2018). At least three and no more than 15 participants are a suitable number of participants for a case study (Yin, 2018). However, Yin (2018) recommended that at least three participants suffice for case study research, but these participants must possess successful experience in the

phenomenon researchers are trying to investigate. If I had not reached data saturation with three participants, I would have continued to interview the study participants until reaching data saturation.

Researchers reach data saturation when they are unable to obtain any new information from the study participants (Moser & Korstjens, 2018). Yin (2018) stated that researchers could reach data saturation with at least three participants providing rich and thick data about the phenomenon under investigation. I achieved data saturation by asking study participants open-ended questions in semistructured interviews to obtain rich and thick data. I called and emailed qualified candidates to extend an invitation to participate in this study and secured their approval.

The researcher needs to ensure that the interview is held in a setting that allows for open dialogue with the participants (Yin, 2018). In addition, researchers must provide convenience to participants to establish fluid conversations with them to build rapport and decrease their anxiety because interviews conducted with tension and conflict can reduce the rapport needed to gather information related to the phenomenon under investigation (Malterud et al., 2016). Because of the 2020 pandemic, I did not conduct face-to-face, semistructured interviews. As an alternative, I conducted semistructured interviews using Zoom. I emailed participants the informed consent form. I included this information in my IRB application. In addition, I provided convenience to participants to establish fluid conversations with them to build rapport with them and decrease their anxiety. I arranged the interview in a convenient setting to interview the participants without distractions to enhance communication. I provided an outline to each participant on what would take place and informed them that the interview would take approximately 60 minutes.

Ethical Research

Researchers must obtain consent from study participants (Neufeld et al., 2019). Before I began my data collection, I required each participant to sign the informed consent form. Some of the components of the informed consent form include the nature of the study, expectations of researchers and participants, potential risks and benefits, and researchers' contact information (Yin, 2018). Ellis (2019) stated that researchers must inform study participants that participation is strictly voluntary. In addition, researchers must inform study participants that participants may withdraw their participation at any time during the research process, are not required to provide a reason for such withdrawal, and will not face any negative consequences (Yin, 2018). I informed the participants of this study that participation is voluntary and that they could withdraw from the study at any time without having to state a reason for such withdrawal or suffering any negative consequences. Participants were able to announce their withdrawal in writing or verbally; however, nobody withdrew from the study. The consent form contained all the guidelines, including steps to withdraw from the study. Researchers must ensure the participants' dignity, privacy, and confidentiality (Lee, 2018). At no point during this study, participants received any tangible or in-tangible benefits. Tangible or in-tangible benefits may integrate biases into the research study (Lee, 2018).

As the researcher, I determined if each participant met the minimum criteria to participate in this study, including that the participant had to be at least 18 years of age.

Walden University's IRB granted me permission to conduct this study, which allowed me to begin conducting interviews. During the interview process, I focused on each participants' dignity, privacy, and informed consent in alignment with Walden University's IRB guidelines. The Walden University's IRB approval number for this study is 08-21-20-0658759.

Researchers develop the informed consent form, explain its content to each participant, and secures participant agreement to participate by collecting a signed informed consent form (Lee, 2018). I created an informed consent form using basic English to ensure that participants with various education levels were able to understand its contents, as Lee (2018) recommended. I provided a copy of the informed consent form to each qualified participant and reviewed its contents with each participant to ensure understanding of the content of the informed consent form. Reviewing of the informed consent form is necessary to ensure each participant has read the consent form and is making an informed decision to participate in a research study (Ellis, 2019).

Participants of this study had their identification and affiliation to their organization masked to ensure confidentiality. To ensure study participants or organizations are not indirectly discovered, I did not include any attributes in this study. A researcher should conduct ethical research that has minimal impact on the study participants and that produces ethical, trustworthy, and meaningful results (Lee, 2018). To ensure confidentiality, a password-protected area of my personal computer's hard drive was used to collect and store all research-related documents. For a period of 5 years, I will maintain a locked drawer with any physical documents. Per Walden University's IRB guidelines, I will destroy all research-related data after 5 years.

Data Collection Instruments

Lincoln and Guba (1985) were the first scholars introducing the idea of the researcher as the primary research instrument in a study. It is widely accepted that researchers become the research instrument when conducting qualitative research (Clark & Vealé, 2018; Moser & Korstjens, 2018; Pustulka et al., 2019). Because a qualitative researcher is the research instrument, several options to collect data when conducting case study research exist, including conducting semistructured interviews, reviewing organizational documents and artifacts, and making observations (Carr et al., 2019; Fritz & Vandermause, 2018).

Qualitative researchers favor the use of semistructured interviews containing open-ended interview questions, allowing researchers to ask follow-up questions to gain an improved understanding of the participants' experiences (Barrett & Twycross, 2018; Hamilton & Finely, 2019). Researchers can gain a better understanding of the participants' experiences with the phenomenon under investigation when conducting semistructured interviews (Clark & Vealé, 2018).

I collected data by asking participants, selected from a single hospital, open-ended questions in semistructured interviews to obtain rich and thick data. Researchers could collect rich and thick data from study participants related to the phenomenon under investigation (Barrett & Twycross, 2018; Fusch et al., 2018). The rich data collected through semistructured interviews can lead to researchers uncovering new themes (Clark & Vealé, 2018). An outline of predetermined interview questions is useful during semistructured interviews with the opportunity to ask clarifying questions to gain a better understanding of the participants' experiences with the phenomenon under investigation (Barrett & Twycross, 2018; Hamilton & Finely, 2019). I conducted semistructured interviews with the study participants and asked clarifying questions to ensure the collection of rich and thick data.

As the researcher, I was the primary research instrument to collect data following an interview protocol (see Appendix A) to conduct semistructured, face-to-face interviews that I recorded and transcribed. I ensured that participants answered all interview questions (see Appendix B) during the interview. I gave participants time at the end of the interviews to add any additional thoughts on the implementation of EMR systems. Researchers ask study participants for any parting thoughts and experiences to obtain responses related to the phenomenon under investigation that did not emerge during the interviews (Hamilton & Finely, 2019). Researchers integrate biases into their research studies (Barrett & Twycross, 2018). Researcher reflexivity is a practice researchers use to address their biases (O'Boyle, 2018). Researchers review their thoughts and decisions on the data collected when they use the process of research reflexivity (Rae & Green, 2016). Researchers eliminate their biases by practicing researcher reflexivity, ensuring research transparency (O'Boyle, 2018). I engaged in reflexivity by reviewing my thoughts and decisions on the data collected and recorded them to address my bias.

Document analysis is another technique researchers use when collecting data (Moser & Korstjens, 2018; Yin, 2018). Researchers conduct methodological triangulation by concurrently using semistructured interviews and organizational documents and artifacts to explore a phenomenon in its natural setting, improving the study's rigor (Hamilton & Finely, 2019; Moser & Korstjens, 2018). Annual reports, financial statements, and budget reports are some examples of documents researchers review (Yin, 2018). Documents can be beneficial during case study research because they can contain details about data collected that had not emerged (Yin, 2018). I analyzed organizational documentations and artifacts, such as project smart sheets and employee records, related to the implementation of the EMR system.

Member checking is a tool that researchers use to increase the credibility of the study by allowing the participants to confirm, adjust, or clarify any aspect of the data collected (Rakic et al., 2017). Researchers use member checking by providing participants with researchers' interpretations of participants' answers to interview questions and asking participants to verify the accuracy of such interpretations (Rakic et al., 2017). I used member checking to avoid biases by allowing the participants to review my interpretation of their answers to interview questions and verify the accuracy of my interpretations.

Data Collection Technique

To capture the paritipants' experiences within the phenomenon under study, researchers use semistructured interviews (Barrett & Twycross, 2018). The semistructured interviews consist of open-ended questions that participants answer to describe their personal experiences with the phenomenon researchers are investigating (Hamilton & Finely, 2019). The overarching research question is the focal point that researchers use to control the direction of the semistructured interviews and to develop supporting questions to gather additional information related to the phenomenon researchers are investigating (Fritz & Vandermause, 2018).

I conducted semistructured interviews with three project managers in a single hospital in Illinois with successful experience in adopting and implementing EMR systems successfully to receive federal incentive payments. Researchers also review and analyze organizational documentation and artifacts, to obtain information directly related to the phenomenon researchers are investigating (Yin, 2018). The use of different data collection methods increases the researchers' understanding of the phenomenon under investigation and the rigor of the study because researchers are able to conduct methodological triangulation (Yates & Leggett, 2016). I reviewed and analyzed organizational documentations and artifacts, such as project smart sheets and employee records, that directly related to strategies that hospital project managers use to adopt and implement EMR systems successfully to receive federal incentive payments.

Conducting semistructured interviews and reviewing and analyzing organizational documentation and artifacts can have both advantages and disadvantages (Hamilton & Finely, 2019). Regarding the advantages of conducting semistructured interviews, qualitative researchers could ask follow-up questions to gain an improved understanding of the participants' experiences and to give participants an opportunity to explain their answers (Barrett & Twycross, 2018). Another advantage is that researchers could observe

participants' nonverbal cues when answering interview questions (Ngozwana, 2018). Regarding the advantages of reviewing and analyzing organizational documentation and artifacts, researchers collect data from multiple sources to conduct methodological triangulation, comparing data collected to determine if data alignment occurred to increase the validity of the research study (Moser & Korstjens, 2018). Collection of data from various sources can result in the development of emerging themes or additional areas for researchers to explore to perhaps obtain new themes (Sanjari et al., 2014). By reviewing and analyzing organizational documents and artifacts, researchers discover important information related to the phenomenon they are investigating, such as the correct spelling of employees' names and rich descriptions of events (Yin, 2018).

I conducted semistructured interviews, consisting of open-ended questions, with the study participants and asked clarifying questions to give participants an opportunity to elaborate on their answers, ensuring the collection of rich and thick data. I engaged in methodological triangulation to increase the validity of this study by using several sources of data collection methods, such as conducting semistructured interviews and reviewing and analyzing organizational documentation and artifacts, and comparing data collected from several sources to determine if data alignment existed.

Semistructured interviews and organizational documentation and artifacts also have disadvantages (O'Boyle, 2018). Participants can become nervous or uncomfortable when researchers' record participants' answers to interview questions (Henderson, 2018). Another disadvantage is that researchers may have limited experience in conducting semistructured interviews (Fritz & Vandermause, 2018). Participants could incorporate biases into the research process because participants may want to please the researchers by answering interview questions with information that participants believe that researchers would like to hear (Yin, 2018). Researchers could integrate biases into the research process by exhibiting nonverbal cues and expressing their own views regarding the phenomenon under investigation (Barrett & Twycross, 2018). Disadvantages can expand to the analysis of organizational documents if the employee of the participating organization develops the documents with biases that reflect own personal interests (Barrett & Twycross, 2018). Employees in the participating organization could have developed organizational documents filled with own biases that cause an inaccurate account of events or numbers (Rakic et al., 2017). When attempting to gain access to organization documents, researchers could face difficulties (Moser & Korstjens, 2018).

When appropriate, researchers conduct a pilot study. To ensure the significance on the content of the study, some researchers conduct a pilot study (Karagiozis, 2018). However, because qualitative researchers use a variety of data collection techniques, such as semistructured interviews and organizational documentation and artifacts, a pilot study is not absolutely necessary, avoiding the extensive time required for a pilot study (Barrett, 2018). For this study, I did not conduct a pilot study because it is a timeconsuming activity and I used several data collection techniques, such as semistructured interviews and organizational documentation and artifacts, making the pilot study not absolutely necessary.

Researchers use member checking by providing participants with researchers' interpretations of participants' answers to interview questions and asking participants to

verify the accuracy of such interpretations (Rakic et al., 2017). Member checking is a tool that researchers use to increase the credibility of their study by allowing the participants to confirm, adjust, or clarify any aspect of the data collected (Rakic et al., 2017). There can be disadvantages to member checking. Researchers can mistakenly assume the study participants agree with their interpretations of participants' answers when no comment is received from the study participants when, in fact, the participants may not have read that portion (Birt et al., 2016). Participants may not want to disagree with the researchers' interpretation of their answers and may just accept these interpretations as accurate (Yin, 2018). I conducted member checking to enhance the credibility of this study by allowing the participants to review my interpretation of their answers to interview questions and verify the accuracy of my interpretations.

Data Organization Technique

Researchers that are completing a qualitative study can begin organizing their data before starting data analysis by creating an appropriate data organization system (Yin, 2018). The organization of data can result in more rigorous research studies (Yin, 2018). Comparable to quantitative data being organized in a database, qualitative researchers could benefit from collecting and organizing data in a systematic way (Malterud et al., 2016).

I conducted semistructured, face-to-face interviews with three project managers in a single hospital in Illinois using open-ended questions (see Appendix B). Researchers assign unique codes to study participants to maintain participants' confidentiality (Fennelly et al., 2020). I assigned unique codes to participants of this study to ensure their confidentiality. I used the letter P and a number between 1 and 3, to differentiate the participants and maintain their confidentiality. I ensured that no identifying markers are in the transcripts. To ensure the confidentiality of participants, researchers can change the names of participants, participating organizations, and places that participants mention (Sanjari et al., 2014). To ensure the privacy of the participants in this study, I transcribed each project managers' interview, removed any identifying information, and assigned the appropriate identifying participant code to each project manager in the interview transcript.

To ensure participants' confidentiality, a password-protected area of my personal computer's hard drive was used to store all research-related documents. The unique participant code was included on any documents connected to the specific participant. I ensured data security through data protection and safe keeping of research-related documents. A document identifier number was assigned to all documents obtained during the research process. To organize the organizational documentation and artifacts, I converted paper documents to electronic documents by scanning them into my secured, password-protected personal computer's hard drive. I filed electronic documents on a dedicated folder to ensure data organization. Annotated bibliographies were included within these scanned documents to improve the retrieval process, as Yin (2018) recommended.

To improve data organization, I stored electronic data in an identified folder on a password-protected area of my personal computer's hard drive. Computer-assisted qualitative data analysis software (CAQDAS) can host raw data imported from a

computer's hard drive to improve the organization of data collected. Researchers can organize and analyze their data more effectively and efficiently by using CAQDAS (de Almeida et al., 2019). Tools such as CAQDAS enhances the data analysis process but it does not replace the researcher's role in detecting and interpreting meanings while organizing and analyzing the data (Antoniadou, 2017). I used NVivo, which is a qualitative data analysis computer software. NVivo helps qualitative researchers to organize, analyze, and find insights in qualitative data like interviews and open-ended survey responses (Antoniadou, 2017). I used NVivo to import, file, and organize my semistructured interview transcripts. Having a centralized location for data collected in this study allowed me to retrieve and analyze the data more efficiently.

Researchers exhibit transparency by keeping a reflective journal, which can assist them in bracketing (Baksh, 2018). Researchers can capture an accurate picture during the research process with a reflective journal because the journal could include reactions to interviews or descriptions of the interview settings, which enriches the study (Gamble et al., 2019). To ensure transparency and assist with the bracketing process, I kept an electronic reflective journal to track my thoughts and ideas during the analysis of organizational documents and artifacts. I documented my reactions to the interview process, interview setting, and decisions made throughout the study to promote transparency.

Researchers should not keep data longer than required and ensure that information is secured (Glenna et al., 2019). Best practices that emerged from legislation regarding data protection are in place to assist with researches on proper data protection during and after conducting research (Boyd et al., 2018). The best practices for research included: identifying the purpose of collecting data, obtaining informed consent, collecting essential data, using data for research purposes only, storing the data for the required length of stay only, and keeping all data secured (Boyd et al., 2018).

I kept all raw data on a password-protected area of my computer's hard drive when not in use and kept all hardcopies in a secured, locked, and restricted area. My practice aligned with Boyd et al.'s (2018) recommendations to secure and lock the data collected. Researchers must consider ethical requirements for data collected when conducting research, including storing hard copies in a secured and locked filing cabinet and electronic copies in a password-protected area of a computer's hard drive (Kempfert & Reed, 2011). For a period of 5 years after the completion of this study, I will maintain a locked drawer with all raw data, adhering to the requirements of Walden University. Per Walden University's IRB guidelines, I will physically destroy all raw data kept on my hard drive and shred all hard copies after 5 years.

Data Analysis

Researchers increase the richness and thickness of the data collected by using triangulation (Johnson et al., 2017). Methodological triangulation occurs when researchers collect data using several methods and compare the data collected to see if data alignment exists (Johnson et al., 2017). Researchers conduct methodological triangulation by using several data collection methods, such as semistructured interviews and organizational documentation and artifacts, to increase the credibility and validity of the data collected (Varpio et al. 2017). Collecting data using several methods is desirable

research practice because researchers obtain several perspectives related to the phenomenon under investigation (Yates & Leggett, 2016). For example, researchers obtain convergent evidence when they triangulate data collected from conducting semistructured interviews and reviewing organizational documentation and artifacts (Yin, 2018). Convergent evidence leads to the increase in the construct validity of a case study (Yin, 2018). I conducted methodological triangulation by conducting semistructured interviews and reviewing organizational documentation and artifacts to compare data collected and determined that data alignment occurred, increasing the validity and credibility of the data. Conducting methodological triangulation allowed me to obtain several perspectives regarding the successful implementation of EMR systems. I used member checking by giving participants my interpretations of their answers to interview questions and asking participant to verify the accuracy of such interpretations.

Researchers often conduct data analysis at the same time they are collecting data, resulting in an interactive process (Frost et al., 2018). Qualitative data analysis can consist of various methods: thematic, content, and discourse analysis (Cowley et al., 2019). Researchers use thematic analysis by reviewing interview transcripts several times to better understand the text (Frost et al., 2018). Classifying, ordering, and analyzing data can be completed by using DeDoose, which is a CAQDAS (de Almeida et al., 2019). Researchers use CAQDAS to identify themes and any relationship between them (Antoniadou, 2017).

Researchers can use five sequential steps in the data analysis process that Yin (2018) suggested: compile, disassemble, reassemble, clarify, and conclude. Step 1

consists of researchers searching for patterns and themes in different interview transcripts by compiling and organizing data. Researchers use qualitative data analysis software, such as NVivo, to code and analyze data collected (Cayir & Saritas, 2017). NVivo allows researchers to quickly organize, code, and classify large amounts of data (Çayir & Saritas, 2017). Step 2 consists of disassembling the data and assigning codes them. In Step 3, researchers reassemble and reorganize the data by themes. In Step 4, researchers validate the interpreted data against the interview transcripts by using thematic analysis. Researchers identify patterns and themes through thematic analysis to answer the overarching research question (Frost et al., 2018). For my data analysis process, I used NVivo to interpret the raw data collected from conducting semistructured interviews and reviewing organizational documentation and artifacts. I organized and coded the data by themes, map the emerging themes, and identify any relationships among the themes. Member checking is as tool used to validate researchers' interpreted data collected from study participants (Rakic et al., 2017). I conducted member checking to enhance the credibility of this study by allowing the participants to review my interpretation of their answers to interview questions to verify the accuracy of my interpretations.

Researchers use the case study design because of the opportunity to use several data collection techniques (Yates & Leggett, 2016). Researchers triangulate data collected to increase the richness and thickness of data (Yin, 2018). Researchers increase the validity of their studies when they conduct methodological triangulation to determine if data alignment exists between the data collected from conducting semistructured interviews and the data collected from reviewing organizational documentation and
artifacts (Yates & Leggett, 2016). Documents and artifacts related to the participating organization can be the second source of data for triangulation. Analyzing data collected from reviewing organizational documentation and artifacts could take the form of one of two methods, which are thematic analysis and content analysis (Cowley et al., 2019; de Almeida et al., 2019). I analyzed organizational documents and artifacts using content analysis. Researchers use content analysis to analyze data collected by organizing identified codes and identifying emerging themes (Frost et al., 2018). The three phases of content analysis are preparing, organizing, and reporting (Cowely et al., 2019). By conducting methodological triangulation, I triangulated data collected from semistructured interviews and organizational documents and artifacts and determined that data alignment occurred between these two sources of data collection. Conclusions and recommendations develop from the findings to answer to the central research question in Step 5 (Yin, 2018). I gathered my collected data, disassembled the data using codes, reassembled the data using themes to comprehend my research phenomenon, interpreted my data by using thematic analysis, and produced conclusions from my research results.

Researchers focus on major themes in the research data by mapping the relationship between the themes to answer the central research question (Yin, 2018) and to connect major themes to current literature and the conceptual framework (Antoniadou, 2017). Researchers can connect major themes and classify them into data categories by coding data with labels (Çayir & Saritas, 2017). Researchers determine statistical episodes of thematic codes within each data category by performing frequency analyses (Cowley et al., 2019). I mapped major themes into data categories by using the data-

coding feature in NVivo, which enhanced the trustworthiness in this study. Within the conceptual framework, researchers can locate major themes (Antoniadou, 2017). The conceptual framework links to previous literature, the methodology, and the results of a study (Antoniadou, 2017). I correlated major themes with the literature and the conceptual framework in this study.

Reliability and Validity

There are four accepted criteria when researchers are conducting qualitative studies to establish reliability and validity, which are dependability, credibility, transferability, and confirmability (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). Researchers use these four criteria to establish trustworthiness in their studies (Johnson et al., 2017). Just as quantitative researchers establishing reliability and validity in their studies, qualitative researchers ensure the trustworthiness of their studies (Yin, 2018).

Reliability

In qualitative research, especially case studies, reliability is an area of concern (Yin, 2018). When researchers use data collection instruments that are reliable, researchers generate reliable and convincing results (Hamilton & Finely, 2019). As suggested by several researchers (Fritz & Vandermause, 2018; Malterud et al., 2016), I used two data collection instruments in this study, which are semistructured interviews and organizational documentation and artifacts. All data collection instruments are of equal value and, consequently, researchers should not view one data collection instrument as better than the rest (Yin, 2018). In fact, data collection instruments are complementary and researchers should use as many instruments as possible in a case study (Yin, 2018).

Dependability refers to the stability of findings over time (Birt et al., 2016). As recommended by several authors (Krell et al., 2016; Moser & Korstjens, 2018; Rumeser & Emsley, 2016), researchers should use the same interview questions to ensure dependability in a case study. I used the same interview questions to ensure dependability in this study. Rakic et al. (2017) recommended the use of member checking to establish data dependability. I used member checking to establish data dependability. Researchers use member checking by providing participants with researchers' interpretations of participants' answers to interview questions and asking participants to verify the accuracy of such interpretations (Rakic et al., 2017). Data dependability increases when using member checking because the researchers' biases do not taint the facts (Birt et al., 2016).

Researchers audio-record the interviews to review the content and reflect on participants' answers, leading to more reliable transcripts and themes (Barrett & Twycross, 2018). To avoid integrating my biases into this study, I asked the interviewees to explain their answers by giving substantial detail. If the answers lacked depth or significance, I asked the participants to expand on their answers. As suggested by several authors (Moser & Korstjens, 2018; Pustulka et al., 2019), I avoided tainting participants' perspectives by not discussing any details about the study prior to the interview to ensure reliable results. As recommended by several scholars (Yates & Leggett, 2016; Yeung et al., 2018), I maintained consistency and increased reliability by not introducing any new interview questions, following the interview protocol.

Validity

Researchers use the research validation framework, consisting of credibility, transferability, and confirmability to validate their studies (Birt et al., 2016). Case study researchers ensure credibility by using several data collection methods and comparing the data collected to determine if data alignment occurs (Yates & Leggett, 2016). Researchers establish credibility by carefully reading all interview transcripts (Cowley et al., 2019). To establish credibility, I thoroughly read and reviewed all interview transcripts to guarantee that I had captured the participants' perspectives accurately. When reviewing the transcripts, I looked for similarities and differences among the study participants. To increase the validity of the interview data, I used member checking between the transcription of interviews and the analysis of data collected processes, as suggested by experts (Rakic et al., 2017). I used member checking by giving participants my interpretations of their answers to interview questions and asking participant to verify the accuracy of such interpretations.

Within the research validation framework, there is transferability, which is when researchers apply the findings from one study to another (Porter et al., 2016). Case study researchers desiring to achieve high-quality results should focus on selecting suitable study participants, providing detail-oriented participant demographic information, completing in-depth data analysis, and presenting findings in an intuitive format to increase their study's transferability (Yin, 2018). To provide high-quality results, I selected suitable participants, gave detail-oriented demographic information, completed in-depth data analysis, and presented findings in an intuitive format to increase the transferability of this study.

Confirmability occurs after researchers establish dependability, credibility, and transferability and refers to the ability of researchers to show that the data collected represent an accurate interpretation of the study participants' answers to interview questions without biases (Johnson et al., 2017). I recorded my thoughts, insights, and biases while listening and conducting each interview. I carefully transcribed the answers given in the interview, confirmed connections between data and results, and used existing literature to increase the confirmability of study results.

Using methodological triangulation when conducting a case study strengthens the validity of the research study (Yates & Leggett, 2016). Researchers collect data from multiple sources to conduct methodological triangulation and compare data collected to determine if data alignment occurred (Moser & Korstjens, 2018). I conducted methodological triangulation by comparing data collected using various sources, such as semistructured interviews and organizational documentation and artifacts, and determined that data alignment had occurred. Case study research validation most often has methodological triangulation as the foundation due to the multiple data sources used when collecting data (Hamilton & Finely, 2019).

I continued to analyze data until I reached data saturation. Researchers reach the point of data saturation when additional data collection does not lead to any new further information that would add to the study (Moser & Korstjens, 2018). To provide conclusive findings, researchers must achieve data saturation (Moser & Korstjens, 2018). To ensure I reached data saturation, I collected and analyzed data until further data collection resulted in no new meaningful information that can add value to this study.

Transition and Summary

The purpose of this qualitative single case study is to explore strategies that hospital project managers use to adopt and implement EMR systems successfully to receive federal incentive payments. Section 1 included a discussion of how project managers can use strategies to adopt and implement an EMR system. Rogers' (1962) diffusion of innovation theory is the conceptual framework for this study. A review of the professional and academic literature for this study was completed.

In Section 2, the following subsections were presented: purpose statement, role of the researcher, participants, and the research method and design. The objective was to discuss the research process, which includes population and sampling, ethical research, data collection instruments and technique, data organization techniques, data analysis, and reliability and validity. In Section 3, the following subsection will be presented: presentation and analysis of the findings, applications to professional practice, implications for social change, recommendations for action and further research, reflections, and a conclusion. Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore strategies that hospital project managers use to adopt and implement EMR systems successfully to receive federal incentive payments. I conducted three virtual, semistructured interviews with three project managers with at least 2 years of successful experience in adopting and implementing an EMR system to receive federal incentive payments. I collected data using transcribed participants' interviews and organizational documentation, which included training guides and power points. Three primary themes emerged from data analysis: the process of change management, initial and continuous training of staff, and staff resistance to current and new processes.

Presentation of the Findings

The overarching research question for the study was as follows: What strategies do hospital project managers use to adopt and implement EMR systems successfully to receive federal incentive payments? Three semistructured interviews were conducted via Zoom with three project managers in a single Illinois hospital. Participants were identified as P1, P2, and P3. The primary hospital for the study was identified as H1, and the affiliated hospital was H2. Interviews were recorded and then transcribed, coded, and themed. I used NVivo software to establish themes from the transcribed interview. Three themes emerged from data analysis: effective change-management practices, strategies for training staff, and strategies for overcoming barriers and staff resistance to new processes.

Theme 1: Effective Change-Management Practices

The first theme that emerged as a result of analyzing data was the practice of effective change management. All three participants (P1, P2, and P3) discussed the way they approached their staff to adopt and implement their EMR system and provided support throughout the adoption and implementation process. The adoption and implementation of an EMR system involves the organization to adopt and make the necessary changes to be successful. P2 discussed the strategy as follows:

The main thing is that you have to have an effective change management strategy ... careful planning ... transparency and communication are very important ... you need to have an effective roadmap ... training and really encourage participation ... the more we can get everyone involved the easier that implementation will be.

This strategy showcases the critical importance of the way the three participants viewed change management and wanted to be successful in their organization. All three participants discussed the implementation process that led to get their team on-board. P1 stated that Bridges' transition model was used to conduct change management. Bridges' transition model is a research-based framework that classifies transition into three phases, which are an ending, a neutral zone, and a new beginning (Jones-Hooker et al., 2020). In Bridges' transition model, staff can feel a sense of loss of what is being left behind, which can result in grief, anger, and anxiety (Gill & Shanta, 2020). Individuals affected by the change should be involved in the change process; barriers can be created when effective communication has not taken place when introducing new technology (Woody,

2020). P1 and P2 informed that communication changes were relayed to the team using *Workplace by Facebook*. P2 discussed the use of posters on the walls in the hallway to communicate any changes within the EMR system. P1 provided further detail by stating the following:

We communicate through the workplace component . . . from the project management side of things, they walked us through what their expectations were . . . where we are going and what opportunities are out there . . . what changes mean in current state . . . project timelines . . . trying to bring together a united, shared vision across the health system . . . we talked about some of the transition phases like shocked, denial, anger.

New workflows require layered decision support, order sets, and clinical pathways; clinical champions, superusers, and other implementation agencies need to be in place for support (Scott et al., 2019). All three participants claimed that champions, nursing onboarding teams (NTOs), and direct support staff have been identified in the organization. Champions can establish buy-in, reduce resistance to change, and create a culture of readiness and acceptance, which leads to greater success with an implementation (Woody, 2020). P1 provided the following additional details related to the implementations process:

Part of their champion role, as some of the expectations . . . to be positive influencers . . . act as a resource for our peers. Identifying with them. I understand that you feel like you are losing this, this, and this. Let's look on the flip side. We might be losing these things but with the new system we are gaining this, this, and this which will help smooth your computer documentation. It will make it faster for you. We can now communicate across our affiliates more easily than just needing to print a whole record to send to them.

Individuals build a trusting relationship in an organization if an effective coalition is in place because a trusting culture has an easier time with transitioning through change (Lv & Zhange, 2017). Discussions should take place in the organization before the implementation takes place to allow leaders and adopters to provide feedback on the process, which can help project managers overcome the barriers that might emerge once the implementation process starts (Lv & Zhange, 2017). P2 noted that staff shortage can impact the management of an EMR system:

The main barrier we are seeing right now is staff. There is a staff shortage here, as well as everywhere else. We are pretty small here. There are not enough of us to do our daily jobs . . . We are very busy. For instance, I am the only informatics nurse at this hospital. As I am still trying to do my daily job and troubleshoot issues as they arise.

P2 described the way P2 ensured the EMR would work for the organization by stating the following:

It is important to involve the other departments . . . involving the other departments is challenging because they are short staffed too. Of course, taking care of the patient is top priority so we can't really pull them from their patient care to attend these meetings.

P3 discussed another barrier of employee adoption by stating the following:

People don't like change. I had a HR director tell me there is more longevity here at H1 than anywhere else he has worked. We have older employees here . . . if something goes wrong with the computer, their first instinct isn't to reboot it. They are there to take care of the patients.

Obstacles need to be removed to achieve change (Kotter, 1996). Project managers need to address these barriers by providing effective training and evaluating the capability of their staff (Lv & Zhange, 2017).

The complexity of innovation can result in resistance to change. Providing effective training to the adopters could translate into empowered staff, resulting in less resistance to change (Lv & Zhange, 2017). To have a successful project, project managers should set a common goal and ensure processes are in place to reach the desired goal (Seijits & Gandz, 2018). I reviewed organizational documentations that included how-to guides on navigating different parts of the EMR system, troubleshooting guides, and mock case studies. These resources are provided to the nursing team and physicians. P1 trains new nurses on their EMR system and P2 works with the physicians.

The how-to guide titled *Navigating Paragon Clinician Hub and OneContent* walks a new team member through the login page and how to find a patient. It gives a step-by-step guide to navigate the following tabs: results (flowsheets), documentation, and medical record. Describing the different tabs, such as the way the lab and radiology results are found under the results tab and within the documentation tab allows the user to find all the notes that have been written by various providers. While the *RX Writer* shows the physicians instructions to print and transmit a prescription, the *Order Priority* guide shows physicians the way to select the priority when placing an order, which are routine, STAT, or timed. The guides also provided tips on things to avoid.

The *Display Issue* guide provides troubleshooting for the nursing team. This guide gives step-by-step assistance on known issues in their current system. Providing additional resources to adopters provides reassurance during the implementation process. A common resource for EMR systems is a helpdesk because helpdesk operators assist adopters during the implementation process, which improves the adopters experience and satisfaction (Ngugi et al., 2021). P3 worked the helpdesk and primarily focused on problems users have within the EMR system, but previously played a large role in training. P3 stated, "I answer the phones when someone has a problem . . . I am one of the people that help users with our EHR." When asked about ways to overcome barriers in the organization, P3 stated the following:

I try to help them out and understand them. I don't want to belittle them or make them think they have a stupid question . . . I know what it is like to learn new software and not know what every button means. Some people are scared to try it and think it they click on a certain button it will blow everything up. I try to understand and give them a helping hand and let them know I am there for them. Having resources such as champions and help desks provide support for the adopters and

can result in a stronger adoption.

Correlation to the Literature

(2018) in that organizations need to support the changes and help initiate actions that are

necessary to move the implementation into action. Project managers should create a coalition of key people sharing the same goal for the implementation process (Seijits & Gandz, 2018). Communication is a process that takes time and may need to be provided in different media to be effective (Eriksson & Fundin, 2018). Individuals build a trusting relationship in an organization if an effective coalition is in place because a trusting culture has an easier time with transitioning through change (Lv & Zhange, 2017).

Correlation to the Conceptual Framework

Theme 1 relates to Rogers' (1962) diffusion of innovation theory because all three participants discussed the five essential components of the diffusion of innovation theory, which consist of (a) innovation, (b) adopters, (c) communication channels, (d) time, and (e) social system (Rogers, 2002). P1 discussed the innovation of fixing their staff issues through their EMR implementation. P1 explained that if there is a staff shortage at H1, they would be able to borrow staff from H2 because they are on the same EMR. The staff would be knowledgeable in the same EMR and be able to chart the same. All three participants discussed the importance of the adopters being on-board and the communication to ensure success. Communication was discussed by all three participants. P1 and P2 informed that communication changes were relayed to the team using Workplace by Facebook. P2 discussed the use of posters on the walls in the hallway to communicate any changes within the EMR system. P2 discussed how staffing can impact an implementation and delays can occur. Through champions and communication, all three participants explained how adoption could be successful through the social system. Rogers' (1962) diffusion of innovation theory outlines that the adopter needs to

evaluate and determine if the new process is better than the previous practice. All three participants described their process on meeting and outlining a process to ensure success.

Theme 2: Strategies for Training Staff

The second theme that emerged as a result of analyzing data was the use of strategies for training staff. All three participants discussed the way they train or support the staff during and after the implementation process. P1 trains and supports the nurses, P2 trains and supports the physicians, and P3 works the help desk and supports the overall organization. P1 described the moment when P1 started working at the organization as follows:

I have grown up with our current EHR system. When I first started working here as a tech, we were doing paper charting . . . when I got my RN license initially in 2003, we were just transitioning to an electronic health system from paper documentation, and we have had that system ever since then . . . [I] recall going through classes and such to learn how to document appropriate through the system.

P1 described the training process by stating the following:

The initial training with the NTO is myself. I am the one that is going through that system. You could say one-on-one. I may have two, three, five colleagues in the classroom at a time depending on the time of year and who is coming though. We will go through their checklist before they are allowed to go to their respected unit. Once they are on their unit, there is another clinical check list, where their preceptor, who could be a very experience colleague to a colleague who has been with us for a year or two. The nurse manager has made the decision to who will be the preceptor. There is a check lists for their preceptor for them to sign off on also. Some things such as enter daily assessment or demonstrates appropriate admission assessment completed, which would include the computer documentation.

P2 explained the collaboration that exists with the physicians when they start to use their current EMR system:

I do all the initial trainings with all of the providers who start here. After the initial training, I regularly check-in with all of the providers and physicians and get their feedback, any problems they are having, anything they have noticed, how are they doing certain steps. Just really stay involved a lot with the clinical staff.

P1 provided the organizational documents that included the how-to guides on navigating different parts of the EMR system, troubleshoot guides, and mock case studies. P1 used those daily when training the nursing team. P1 provided an overview on what it would be like to be a new nurse onboarding by stating the following:

When we have new colleagues come through to us, we have them go through what we call NTO. For our specific location, we will go through a brief overview of where to enter vital signs, where to enter assessments, where to enter care plans and notes for both our care techs . . . That is the first layer is educating the new colleagues. The second layer would be ongoing audits when we are looking at our quality indicators for nursing . . . What we have found through chart audits is that people document in many different places within the health record. It is not consistent. What it has forced us to do has been to go back and re-educate staff on where we prefer that documentation be located. Those audits still are continuing. It is a tedious piece that is necessary. In the last year or two we have changed, based on colleague feedback, where are request for that documentation was. Even based on that feedback, we still have those outliers, and to help with keeping them on track and using the electronic health record as intended, we do have some computer-based learning. As we are auditing and identify a colleague that consistently documents in the wrong location, they will be directed to this individualized learning for them to review the appropriate place. This needs to be submitted back to their manager.

An initial training is completed but it does not end there. P1 and other coworkers performed audits that allow them to identify areas that need to be retrained. Providing competency reviews can increase the success of the implementation in the long-term (Tetef, 2017). The three participants performed audits, which consisted of conducting competency reviews to ensure accuracy and gain an understanding of the proper use of the EMR system. P2 provided the initial training to the physicians and conducts the audits. Regarding this role, P2 stated the following:

I do a lot of audits based on issues that are raised by varies departments. Say a lab, or registration, medical records, or any of those other partners, they will call contact me when they see an issue. They see it one time, okay. They see again, they contact me, and I do some audits and research to determine what is going on. Is it really a training need? A system limitation? It is usually a re-education need. That is where I get involved. We are not very proactive about it. It's more reactive when we start to see the issues. I do also check-ins.

The organization looked for areas of concern to correct them before they became a larger issue. When system issues were identified, P1 provided troubleshoot guides, which helped users navigate the system to learn issues in the EMR.

All three participants mentioned similar training processes. P3 was one of the earlier workers involved in the initial rollout and described having group sessions. However, P3 now focuses on the help desk. P1 and P2 currently train and the support the nurses and physicians and described one-on-one and group sessions. P1 mentioned, "I may have two, three, five colleagues in the classroom at a time," while P2 stated, "I do an initial one-on-one session. There have been times I might have to put a couple of them in the room at the same time but that is very infrequently."

Outside of the initial training process and audits, P1 discussed the organization's use of champions, which can assist with removing barriers. Appointed champions need to be respected by their peers and hold the line on the full adoption of the EHR (Woody, 2020). P1 explained in detail the true meaning of a champion by the organization by stating the following:

Part of their champion role . . . they want us to be positive influencers for our peers. Act as a resource for our peers. Identifying with them. I understand that you feel like you are losing this, this, and this. Let's look on the flip side. We might be losing these things but with the new system we are gaining this, this, and

this which will help smooth your computer documentation. It will make it faster for you . . . I think the champions are going to be very helpful with reducing those barriers . . .

Leaders and champions can assist adopters and provide guidance during the process change. Champions can help communicate the expected benefits with a positive attitude and encourage the adoption of the EHR during implementation (Kabukye et al., 2020).

Correlation to the Literature

The findings in Theme 2 align with Weagraff's (2016) study in that well-designed planning and training provided to the staff is critical to the organization's success. Internal resources, such as champions, build trust and help leaders and adopters have someone to reach out to during the implementation process (Mount & Anderson, 2015). Champions can provide insight to the project manager on challenges the adopters are facing (Mount & Anderson, 2015).

Correlation to the Conceptual Framework

Theme 2 provided insight into the training process conducted at H1. Theme 2 correlates with Rogers' (1962) diffusion of innovation theory by adopters being one of the five essential components. P1 and P2 described their training process and P1 explained their need for champions to be successful. Fennelly et al. (2020) explained that during the implementation process, leaders need to identify champions.

Theme 3: Strategies for Overcoming Barriers and Staff Resistance to New Processes

The third theme that emerged as a result of analyzing data was the use of strategies for overcoming barriers and staff resistance to new processes. Users'

perceptions are essential in exploring the barriers to EHR use due to the significance of users in information system utilization (Ngugi et al., 2021). All three participants discussed current barriers to the implementation and ways to overcome them. The initial rollout had been delayed a few times, causing staff to not embrace it as easily. P1 stated the following:

The colleagues have been teased a little which may lead to people not embracing it as much to start with. We were told we were going to have it and then we weren't. It was put on hold and then were told again and then COVID came, and everything got pushed back.

Outside of the delays, P1 described the way staff felt about adopting an EHR system that their affiliated hospital uses. H2 acquired H1 a few years ago, which has brought up other barriers. Regarding this adoption, P1 stated the following:

What we are seeing as potential barriers is kind of a big brother, little brother scenario . . . since our initial affiliation, I feel a lot of colleagues don't feel like it's their home anymore. Their comfort with being part of a larger health system is not very good. It's a different way of viewing things. Some will look to it as being very positive. We got resources opened up to us . . . There are others who are only doing it because the larger facility within our health system says so. It is not because we want it but we were told to do it.

Building trust in staff within H2 has been a barrier when implementing a new system, P1 described resistance from team members. P1 explained that H1 had staff that had worked

there for a long time and felt comfortable with their current EHR system. P1 described the following:

Trying to figure out how to get them to trust and work through loss of familiarity. We do have several new colleagues, but we have a lot that have been here for a very long time . . . I also know with 20 years of experience working in the same electronic health records that I might come across my own challenges. A novice that doesn't have the familiarity, will that slow down my workflow down to start with? Yeah, it probably will to start with but once you become more fluent with its use, our colleagues should be able to combat that and see that it was a move for the better . . . I had this knowledge and now I don't.

P1 discussed strategies used to combat these barriers. All three participants discussed the different methods they use to combat barriers when implementing a new EHR system. These processes included champions and one-on-one and group training sessions. P1 explained that changes help to enhance their current workflow process when documenting. P1 stated,

Act as a resource for our peers. Identifying with them. I understand that you feel like you are losing this, this, and this. Let's look on the flip side. We might be losing these things but with the new system we are gaining this, this, and this which will help smooth your computer documentation. It will make it faster for you. We can now communicate across our affiliates more easily than just needing to print a whole record to send to them. Through acknowledgement of the concerns of the staff, P1 described the way P1's organization combats challenges. Staff was another barrier. Along with most hospitals, they are short-staffed. High staff turnover can be a barrier in the use of EHR, especially when new staff or agency staff lack the knowledge to use the system (Ngugi et al., 2021). P2 stated the following:

The main barrier we are seeing right now is staff . . . There are not enough of us to do our daily jobs plus try to implement a new system . . . Of course, taking care of the patient is top priority so we can't really pull them from their patient care to attend these meetings . . .just last night we received a message that the project itself is being put on hold for a month . . . That is our huge barrier. Our staffing shortage. There are not enough people to go around to implement the project and to take care of patients. We are doing it but it's challenging at times.

P1 explained that the EHR implementation can make it easier on staff when they are short-staffed. P1 stated,

Another thought for long-term for pulling in the affiliated piece (H2), if I have staffing shortage here (H1)... and H2 was doing okay with their staff levels, if we could borrow a colleague from them, like let's say the ICU for a shift or two, there a lot of opportunity, as long as, our electronic health record is the same and as long as our policy and procedures are the same. We are working on standardizing that as well. Those are some of those opportunities that they will not see right away but we can talk to those possibilities. Having the same software can alleviate the barrier on being short staffed. P2 reinforced P1's statement that using the same software as their affiliated hospital (H2) is an effective strategy to alleviate the short-staffed barrier. P2 said the following:

Many of our physicians travel to that hospital (H2). It works there so a lot of them have already used that system. They have used it, have experience with it, they have positive experience with it, and they are ready.

P3 followed with a similar conversation, "if our nurses needed to work over there or if their nurses needed to work over here, then there is one system. They can float back and forth and for providers too."

Janssen et al. (2021) showed that training and upskilling of all end-users of the EHR results in successful implementation. A lack of education and training can be a main barrier to implementation; support from experts can reduce fears of users (Busse, 2022). P2 shared training guides that assist staff in using the system. Documenting, receiving, and incorporating direct messages guides the physician through completing an electronic surgery scheduling form and how it's sent to Pre-Admission Screening and Scheduling. It is then placed on the scheduling grid in Resource Scheduling. A document, *Navigating Paragon Clinician Hub and OneContent*, guides team members through the login process to access patients' charts. Brightly colored tables are included to direct the team in the right direction on access notes and test results.

Correlation to the Literature

The findings in Theme 3 align with Porter et al.'s (2016) study in that project managers need to anticipate barriers that can occur in the project and to identify the

different needs adopters may require for a successful implementation. During an EMR implementation, barriers can include usability issues, time and resource constraints, suboptimal clinic workflows, patient-related factors, information access limitations, and insufficient clinician training, which can hinder the rollout (Murphy et al., 2019). Project managers need to address these barriers by providing effective training and evaluating the capability of their staff (Lv & Zhange, 2017). Well-established workflow processes should be in place to ensure a successful EMR implementation (Jung et al., 2020).

Correlation to the Conceptual Framework

Theme 3 provided insight into overcoming barriers and staff resistance to new processes. Theme 3 correlates with Rogers' (1962) diffusion of innovation theory as a framework to determine the barriers and benefits for caregivers and service providers to use this network. Adopters, communication channels, time, and social system make up four of the five essential components of the diffusion of innovation theory (Rogers, 2002). P1 described the way delays in the implementation resulted in trust barriers. All three participants described being short-staffed as a barrier to roll-out and stated the implementation as a possible solution. P1 discussed the organization's use of champions, which can assist with removing barriers.

Applications to Professional Practice

The main objective of this study was to determine successful strategies that hospital project managers use to adopt and implement EMR systems successfully to receive federal incentive payments. The findings identified strategies from a group of leaders' perspectives concerning the professional practice of business. The findings of the study may assist with the development of appropriate strategies for hospital project managers. Once an understanding of the underlying meaning emerges, appropriate strategies might equip leaders with the skills to improve the implementation of EMR systems. The findings from the study might improve business practice by identifying appropriate strategies, leading to increased productivity and organizational competitiveness.

Effective change management strategy was essential in the success of the EMR implementation. Individuals that will be affected by the change should be involved in the change process; barriers can be created when effective communication has not taken place when introducing new technology (Woody, 2020). New workflows require layered decision support, order sets, and clinical pathways; clinical champions, superusers, and other implementation agencies need to be in place for support (Scott et al., 2019). Champions can establish buy-in, reduce resistance to change, and create a culture of readiness and acceptance, which leads to greater success with an implementation (Woody, 2020). The strategies identified from the findings can be used by the hospital project managers to equip them with the skills to improve the implementation of EMR systems.

The findings identified effective training method and strategies for overcoming barriers, such as staff resistance to new processes. Hospital project managers can use these strategies to increase productivity and organizational competitiveness. Janssen et al. (2021) showed that training and upskilling of all end-users of the EHR results in a successful implementation. Adoption of an innovation, such as an EMR system, can increase revenue and help the organization stay competitive (Tetef, 2017).

Implications for Social Change

The results of this study can influence social change by improving the implementation of EMR systems and personal well-being. The implications for positive social change include the potential to reduce patients' time in the hospital. Less time spent in the hospital reduces expenses for patients and lost work time. Hospitals could use the federal incentive payments from the U.S. Government to improve the health care services delivered to members of the community.

Hospital project managers could take advantage of the social impact associated with the adoption and implementation of EMR systems, including obtaining clinical decision support, accuracy and legibility of medical records, patient safety and satisfaction, physician satisfaction, drug interaction warnings, critical data trend monitoring, and healthcare maintenance tasks (Cimino, 2013). Potential for improved patient care, coordination, and engagement of patients in their care are all benefits associated with patients having access to their healthcare records (Hsiao et al., 2013).

Recommendations for Action

To adopt and implement EMR systems successfully to receive federal incentive payments, hospital project managers need to determine successful strategies. Hospital project managers should have a comprehensive plan to prevent unnecessary costs. Project managers need to determine the time and resources that will be provided to adopters to implement the EMR system. Conduct competency tests and collect feedback from adopters to ensure an understanding of the EMR system. Based on the results of the study, I recommend the following actions:

- Up-front communication between leaders and adopters. Outlining the stages of the implementation process to the staff creates a clear strategy resulting in staff being less resistance to adoption.
- Identify barriers and put strategies in place to overcome these obstacles.
- Develop training courses that best fit adopters, such as 1:1, group courses, videos, and other formats.
- Appoint champions to assist adopters and provide guidance during the process change.
- Rollout the implementation of an EMR system in phases, which would allow the staff sufficient time to learn different components of the system.
- Pause between phases to allow adopters to relay questions and concerns that are occurring.

The recommendations apply to various healthcare facilities and might assist with the implementation of an EMR system. Findings from this study could be of value to various leaders in the healthcare industry. Hospital project managers can use the strategies as a guide to successful implement an EMR system. I will disseminate the results of the study through business and scholarly journals, conferences, and healthcare leadership trainings.

Recommendations for Further Research

With the adoption of EMR systems becoming the new norm, unintended consequences can create new challenges and opportunities. To have continued success, hospital project managers need to be aware of new challenges and stay consistent with training new team members, updating their current EMR and providing regulatory audits. I suggest that healthcare leadership continues to conduct research studies on strategies to implement an EMR system. I suggest they make their findings of those studies available to other healthcare organizations to assist with a successful implementation process.

This study had limitations regarding the small sample size and the fact that the study was conducted with one organization, which prevents me from generalizing the findings to a larger population. I propose for other hospitals that have successfully implemented an EMR system to conduct a similar study. In doing further research, it may address the small sample size and allow for a variety in perception of different groups involved in the implementation process.

Reflections

This doctoral study involved an opportunity to determine successful strategies that hospital project managers use to adopt and implement an EMR system successfully to receive federal incentive payments. I have worked in the healthcare field for 14 years. I have implemented EMR systems in over 50 organizations in the long-term care setting. I selected this topic to conduct my study because it is something I am very passionate about and want to ensure the success of any organization trying to implement an EMR system. I was concerned that my experience in implementing EMR systems would influence my perspective; therefore, I selected a hospital setting new to me.

To mitigate biases, I used member checking and reflexivity. I used member checking to avoid biases by allowing the participants to review my interpretation of their answers to interview questions to verify the accuracy of my interpretations. Member checking is a tool that researchers use to increase the credibility of the study by allowing the participants to confirm, adjust, or clarify any aspect of the data collected (Rakic et al., 2017). Researchers eliminate their biases by practicing researcher reflexivity, ensuring research transparency (O'Boyle, 2018). I engaged in reflexivity by reviewing my thoughts and decisions on the data collected and recording them to address my bias.

After conducting this study, I learned new barriers that other healthcare organizations not familiar to me encounter when trying to implement a new EMR system. With staff shortages affecting all areas of healthcare, I gained a first-hand look at the effect of these shortages on the implementation of a new EMR system. The use of social media to communicate with various organizational teams was a new process that I had not seen in my personal experience when implementing an EMR system in long-term care settings. I gained many new strategies throughout this process.

Conclusion

The findings from this qualitative single case study confirmed Rogers' (1962) diffusion of innovation theory, which was the conceptual framework for this study, which involves the dissemination of an innovation to all employees in the entire organization. The five essential components of the diffusion of innovation theory are (a) innovation, (b) adopters, (c) communication channels, (d) time, and (e) social system (Rogers, 2002). Throughout the study, all five essential components were discussed. By using the identified successful strategies to adopt and implement an EMR system, hospital project managers can equip leaders with the skills to improve the implementation of EMR systems and improve business practice by increasing productivity and organizational competitiveness. Strategies that emerged from this study can help other healthcare leaders to adopt and implement an EMR systems successfully.

References

Ahmadi, H., Nilashi, M., Shahmoradi, L, Ibrahim, O., Sadoughi, F., Alizadeh, M., & Alizadeh, A. (2018). The moderating effect of hospital size on inter and intraorganizational factors of hospital information system adoption. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change, 134,* 124–149.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2018.05.021

- Al-Rahmi, W. M., Yahaya, N., Alamri, M. M., Alyoussef, I. Y., Al-Rahmi, A. M., & Kamin, Y. B. (2021). Integrating innovation diffusion theory with technology acceptance model: Supporting students' attitude towards using a massive open online course (MOOCs) systems. *Interactive Learning Environments*, 29(8), 1380–1392. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10494820.2019.1629599</u>
- Antoniadou, V. (2017). *Qualitative approaches to research on plurilingual education*. Research-publishing.net.
- Arnout, B., Alshehri, A., Assiri, A., & Al-Qadimin, F. (2020). Diagnostic criteria for
 Post-bullying disorder: A phenomenological research design of bullying victims.
 Journal of Public Affairs, 20(3), 1–10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/pa.2063</u>
- Astroth, K., & Chung, S. (2018). Exploring the evidence. Focusing on the fundamentals: Reading quantitative research with a critical eye. *Nephrology Nursing Journal*, 45, 283–286. <u>https://my.enmu.edu/c/document_library/get_file?uuid=4d8bc7cf-</u> 016e-45d5-95a1-6a05cfaedaac&groupId=4153058
- Awad, R., Aljaafresh, A., & Salameh, A. (2022). Factors affecting students' continued usage intention of e-learning during COVID-19 pandemic: Extending Delone &

McLean IS success model. *International Journal of Emerging Technologies in Learning*, *17*(10), 120–144. <u>https://doi.org/10.3991/ijet.v17i10.30545</u>

Azman, N., Najebah, N. A., Hanafi, W. N W., & Salleh, S. M. (2021). Exploring factors for teachers' perceptions towards virtual Learning during COVID-19 pandemic era from the perspective of diffusion of innovation theory. *Global Business & Management Research*, 13(4s), 286–295.

http://www.gbmrjournal.com/pdf/v13n4s/V13N4s-23.pdf

- Baksh, B. (2018). To bracket or not to bracket: Reflections of a novice qualitative researcher. *Reflections: Narratives of Professional Helping*, 24, 45–55.
 <u>https://reflectionsnarrativesofprofessionalhelping.org/index.php/Reflections/article/view/1637</u>
- Barbazza, E., Allin, S., Byrnes, M., Foebel, A., Khan, T., Sidhom, P., Klazinga, N., & Kringos, D. (2021). The current and potential uses of electronic medical record (EMR) data for primary health care performance measurement in the Canadian context: A qualitative analysis. *BMC Health Services Research*, *21*(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-021-06851-0
- Barrett, A. K. (2018). Electronic health record (EHR) organizational change: Explaining resistance through profession, organizational experience, and her communication quality. *Health Communication*, 33, 496–506.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10410236.2016.1278506

Barrett, D., & Twycross, A. (2018). Data collection in qualitative research. *Evidence-Based Nursing*, *21*, 63–64. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/eb-2018-102939</u>

- Bharadwaj, S., & Deka, S. (2021). Behavioural intention towards investment in cryptocurrency: An integration of Rogers' diffusion of innovation theory and the technology acceptance model. *Forum Scientiae Oeconomia*, 9(4), 137–159. <u>https://doi.org/10.23762/FSO_VOL9_NO4_7</u>
- Birt, L., Scott, S., Cavers, D., Campbell, C., & Walter, F. (2016). Member checking: A tool to enhance trustworthiness or merely a nod to validation. *Qualitative Health Research*, 26, 1802–1811. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316654870</u>
- Bisrat, A., Minda, D., Assamnew, B., Abebe, B., & Abegaz, T. (2021). Implementation challenges and perceptions of care providers on electronic medical records at St. Paul's and Ayder hospitals, Ethiopia. *BMC Medical Informatics and Decision Making*, 21(1), 1–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12911-021-01670-z</u>
- Boyd, A., Woollard, M., Macleod, J., & Park, A. (2018). The destruction of the 'Windrush' disembarkation cards: A lost opportunity and the (re)emergence of data protection regulation as a threat to longitudinal research. *Welcome Open Research, 3*(112), 1–13. <u>https://doi.org/10.12688/wellcomeopenres.14796.1</u>
- Carr, E. M., Zhange, G. D., Ming, J. Y., & Siddiqui, Z. S. (2019). Qualitative research:
 An overview of emerging approaches for data collection. *Australasian Psychiatry*, 23, 307–309. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1039856219828164</u>

Çayir, M. Y., & Saritas, M. T. (2017). Computer assisted qualitative data analysis: A descriptive content analysis (2011-2016). *Necatibey Faculty of Education, Electronic Journal of Science & Mathematics Education, 11*, 518–544.
 https://dergipark.org.tr/tr/download/article-file/396552

- Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. (2013). *Medicare electronic health record incentive payments for eligible professionals*. <u>http://www.cms.gov</u>
- Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. (2018). *Promoting interoperability*. http://www.cms.gov
- Cimino, J. J. (2013). Improving the electronic health record: Are clinicians getting what they wished for? *JAMA*, *309*, 991–992. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2013.890</u>
- Clark, K. R., & Vealé, B. L. (2018). Strategies to enhance data collection and analysis qualitative research. *Radiologic Technology*, *89*, 482–485. <u>http://www.radiologictechnology.org/content/89/5/482CT.long</u>
- Cocosila, M., & Archer, N. (2018). Modeling consumer acceptance of electronic personal health records. *Journal of Electronic Commerce Research*, 19, 119–134.
 https://www.researchgate.net/publication/325378748 Modeling consumer acceptance of electronic personal health records
- Cowley, A., Kerr, M., Darby, J., & Logan, P. (2019). Reflections on qualitative data analysis training for PPI partners and its implementation into practice. *Researcher Involvement and Engagement*, 5(1), 1–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40900-019-0156-0</u>
- Creswell, J. W. (2009). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches* (3rd ed.). Sage.
- Delone, W. H., & McLean, E. R. (1992). Information systems success: The quest for the dependent variable. *Information Systems Research*, 3(1), 60–95. https://doi.org/10.1287/isre.3.1.60

- de Almeida, C. A., Freitas, F., Costa, A. P., & Moreira, A. (2019). WEBQDA: The quest for a place in the competitive world of CAQDAS. *Proceedings of the 2019 International Conference in Engineering Applications (ICEA) Engineering Applications (ICEA)*. Sao Miguel, Portugal, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1109/CEAP.2019.8883456
- DiMaggio, P. J., & Powell, W. (1983). The iron cage revisited: Institutional isomorphism and collective action in organisational fields. *American Sociological Review, 48*, 147–160. <u>https://sk.sagepub.com/navigator/institutional-theory-in-organizationstudies/n3.xml</u>
- Dorren, L., & Van Dooren, W. (2021). Chameleonic knowledge: A study of ex ante analysis in large infrastructure policy processes. *Policy Sciences*, 54, 289–312. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11077-021-09423-5</u>
- Dow, K. E., Jacknis, N., & Watson, M. W. (2021). A framework and resources to create a data analytics-infused accounting curriculum. *Issue in Accounting Education*, 36(4), 183–205. <u>https://doi.org/10.2308/ISSUES-19-071</u>
- Duchatelet, D., & Donche, V. (2022). Assessing student learning during simulations in education: Methodological opportunities and challenges when applying a longitudinal case study design. *Studies in Educational Evaluation*, *71*, 1–9.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stueduc.2022.101129
- El-Yafouri, R., Klieb, L., & Sabatier, V. (2022). Psychological, social and technical factors influencing electronic medical records systems adoption by United States physicians: A systematic model. *Health Research Policy & Systems*, 20, 1–12.

https://doi.org/10.1186/s12961-022-00851-0

- Elison, S., Ward, J., Davies, G., & Moody, M. (2014). Implementation of computerassisted therapy for substance misuse: A qualitative study of breaking free online using Rogers' diffusion of innovation theory. *Drugs & Alcohol Today, 12*, 207– 218. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/DAT-05-2014-0025</u>
- Ellis, P. (2019). Ethical aspects of research. *Wounds UK*, *15*, 87–88. <u>https://www.wounds-uk.com/journals/issue/581/article-details/ethical-aspects-</u>research
- Eriksson, Y., & Fundin, A. (2018). Visual management for a dynamic strategic change. Journal of Organizational Change Management, 31, 712–727. https://doi.org/10.1108/JOCM-05-2016-0103
- Fareed, N., Bazzoli, G., Farnsworth Mick, S. S., & Harless, D. (2015). The influence of institutional pressures on hospital electronic health record presence. *Social Science & Medicine*, 133, 28–35. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2015.03.047</u>
- Fennelly, O., Cunningham, C., Grogan, L., Cronin, H., O'Shea, C., Roche, M., Lawlor, F., & O'Hare, N. (2020). Successfully implementing a national electronic health record: A rapid umbrella review. *International Journal of Medical Informatics*, 144, 1–17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2020.104281</u>
- Fritz, R. L., & Vandermause, R. (2018). Data collection via in-depth email interviewing: Lessons from the field. *Qualitative Health Research*, 28, 1640–1649. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316689067
- Frost, J., Gibson, A., Harris-Golesworthy, F., Harris, J., & Britten, N. (2018). Patient

involvement in qualitative data analysis in a trial of a patient-centered intervention: Reconciling lay knowledge and scientific method. *Health Expectations, 21,* 1111–1121. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/hex.12814</u>

- Fusch, P., Fusch, G. E., & Ness, L. R. (2018). Denzin's paradigm shift: Revisiting triangulation in qualitative research. *Journal of Social Change*, 10(1), 19–32. <u>https://doi.org/10.5590/JOSC.2018.10.1.02</u>
- Gall, M., Gall, J., & Borg, R. (2007). *Educational research: An introduction* (8th ed.).Pearson Education.
- Gamble, B. A., Smith-Han, K., Anderson, L., Collins, E., Berryman, E. K., & Wilkisnon, T. (2019). It's 'probably the teacher!' A strategy framework for clinical staff engagement in clinical student bullying intervention. *BMC Medical Education*, *19*(1), 1–13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12909-019-1552-8</u>
- Gill, A., & Shanta, L. (2020). Application of transition theory for orientation of experienced nurses to radiology and imaging nursing. *Journal of Radiology Nursing*, 39, 106–113. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jradnu.2019.10.005</u>
- Glenna, L., Hesse, A., Hinrichs, C., Chiles, R., & Sachs, C. (2019). Qualitative research ethics in the big data era. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 63, 560–583. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0002764219826282</u>

Goodison, R., Borycki, E., & Kushniruk, A. (2019). Use of agile project methodology in health care IT implementations: A scoping review. *Studies in Health Technology* and Informatics, 257, 140–145. <u>https://doi.org/10.3233/978-1-61499-951-5-140</u>

Gurtner, G.C. (2018). Digital technology in plastic surgery. Plastic Surgery, 1, 670-686.
https://www.sciencedirect.com/topics/medicine-and-dentistry/electronic-healthrecord

- Hamilton, A. B., & Finely, E. P. (2019). Qualitative methods in implementation research: An introduction. *Psychiatry Research*, 280(10), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2019.112516
- Hamann, D., & Bezboruah, K. (2020). Outcomes of health information technology utilization in nursing homes: Do implementation processes matter? *Health Informatics Journal*, 26, 2249–2264. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1460458219899556</u>
- Hartley, J. L., Sawaya, W., & Dobrzykowski, D. (2022). Exploring blockchain adoption intentions in the supply chain: Perspectives from innovation diffusion and institutional theory. *International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management*, 52(2), 190–211. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPDLM-05-2020-0163</u>
- Hatch, B., Tillotson, C., Huguet, N., Marino, M., Baron, A., Nelson, J., Sumic, A.,
 Cohen, D., & DeVoe, J. (2020). Implementation and adoption of a health insurance support tool in the electronic health record: A mixed methods analysis within a randomized trial. *BMC Health Services Research*, 20(1), 1–12.

https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-020-05317-z

- HealthIT. (2016). *Medicare and Medicaid EHR incentive program basics*. <u>https://www.healthit.gov/data/quickstats/medicare-and-medicaid-electronic-health-record-ehr-incentive-programs</u>
- Heisey-Grove, D. M., Wall, H. K., & Wright, J. S. (2018). Electronic clinical quality measure reporting challenges: Findings from the Medicare her incentives

program's controlling high blood pressure measures. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association: JAMIA*, 25, 127–134.

https://doi.org/10.1093/jamia/ocx049

- Henderson, H. (2018). Difficult questions of difficult questions: The role of the researcher and transcription style. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education*, 31, 143–157. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09518398.2017.1379615</u>
- Hensmans, M. (2021). The innovation pyramid: Five approaches to strategic decisionmaking. *Journal of Business Strategy*, 43(4), 229–238. https://doi.org/10.1108/JBS-12-2020-0292
- Hsiao, C. J., Jha, A. K., King, J., Patel, V., Furukawa, M. F., & Mostashari, F. (2013).
 Office-based physicians are responding to incentives and assistance by adopting and using electronic health records. *Health Affairs*, *32*, 1470–1477.
 https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2013.0323
- Huebschmann, A., Trinkley, K., Gritz, M., & Glasgow, R. (2022). Pragmatic considerations and approaches for measuring staff time as an implementation cost in health systems and clinics: Key issues and applied examples. *Implementation Science Communication*, 3(1), 1–10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s43058-022-00292-4</u>
- Hüseyin, A., Zeynep, K., & Zülfiye Melis, D. (2019). National and cultural values according to the perceptions of third grade primary students. *International Electronic Journal of Elementary Education*, 11, 519–527.
 https://doi.org/10.26822/iejee.2019553348
- Ishikawa, K. (1968). Guide to quality control. JUSE.

Janssen, A., Donnelly, C., Elder, E., Pathmanathan, N., & Shaw, T. (2021). Electronic medical record implementation in tertiary care: Factors influencing adoption of an electronic medical record in a cancer centre. *BMC Health Services Research*, 21(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-020-06015-6

Johnson, M., O'Hara, R., Hirst, E., Weyman, A., Turner, J., Mason, S., & Siriwardena, A. N. (2017). Multiple triangulation and collaborative research using qualitative methods to explore decision making in pre-hospital emergency care. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, *17*(1), 1–11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-017-0290-z</u>

Jones, D., Lindquist-Grantz, R., & DeJonckheere, M. (2020). A review of mixed methods community-based participatory research applications in mental health. *Journal of Social, Behavioral, and Health Services, 14*, 254–288.

https://doi.org/10.5590/JSBHS.2020.14.1.18

- Jones-Hooker, C., Davis, S., Griffith, S., Mizelle, E., Hubbard, L., Dickerson, K., & Scott, E. S. (2020). Strategies for progression in a PhD nursing program within a transition model. *Nursing Forum*, *55*, 473–479. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/nuf.12451</u>
- Jung, S.Y., Lee, K., Lee, H., & Hwang, H. (2020). Barriers and facilitators to implementation of nationwide electronic health records in the Russian far east: A qualitative analysis. *International Journal of Medical Informatics*, 143(1), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2020.104244
- Kabukye, J. K., Keizer, N., & Cornet, R. (2020). Assessment of organizational readiness to implement an electronic health record system in a low-resource settings cancer

hospital: A cross-sectional survey. PLoS ONE, 15(6), 1–17.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0234711

- Kao, F. C., Chang, J. S., Fang, C.-Y., & Wu, S.-F. (2021). Constructing innovation diffusion model of Facebook fan page-from system dynamics perspective.
 International Journal of Organizational Innovation, 14(1), 150–161. <u>https://ijoi-online.org/attachments/article/326/1170%20Final.pdf</u>
- Karagiozis, N. (2018). The complexities of the researcher's role in qualitative research: The power of reflexivity. *International Journal of Interdisciplinary Educational Studies*, 13, 19–31. <u>https://doi.org/10.18848/2327-011X/CGP/v13i01/19-31</u>
- Karampour, B., Mohamed, S., Karampour, H., & Spagnolo, S. L. (2021). Formulating a strategic plan for BIM diffusion within the AEC Italian industry: The application of diffusion of innovation theory. *Journal of Construction in Developing Countries*, 26(1), 161–184. <u>https://doi.org/10.21315/jcdc2021.26.1.8</u>
- Kassan, A., Goopy, S., Green, A., Arthur, N., Nutter, S., Russell-Mayhew, S., Vazquez, M., & Silversides, H. (2020). Becoming new together: Making meaning with newcomers through an arts-based ethnographic research design. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 17, 294–311.

https://doi.org/10.1080/14780887.2018.1442769

Kellermann, A. L., & Jones, S. S. (2013). What it will take to achieve the as-yetunfulfilled promises of health information technology. *Health Affairs*, 32, 63–68. <u>https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2012.0693</u>

Kempfert, A. E., & Reed, B. D. (2011). Health care reform in the United States: HITECH

act and HIPPA privacy, security, and enforcement issues. *FDCC Quarterly*, 61, 240–273.

https://www.proquest.com/openview/deb9bbf0d095e69b6927ef308271f0b9/1?pqorigsite=gscholar&cbl=8980

- Krell, K., Matook, S., & Rohde, F. (2016). The impact of legitimacy-based motives on IS adoption success: An institutional theory perspective. *Information & Management*, 53, 683–697. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.im.2016.02.006</u>
- Kotter, J. (1996). Leading change. (15th ed.). Harvard Business School Press.
- Kotter, J. (2008). A sense of urgency. Harvard Business School Press.
- Lee, J., Kuo, Y. F., & Goodwin, J. S. (2013). The effect of electronic medical record adoption on outcomes in US hospitals. *BMC Health Services Research*, 13(39), 1–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6963-13-39</u>
- Lee, V. (2018). Beyond seeking informed consent: Upholding ethical values within the research proposal. *Canadian Oncology Nursing Journal*, 28, 222–227. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6516914/</u>
- Lee, H.-H., Wu, Y.-L., & Su, T.-C. (2021). Study on the attitude and satisfaction of tourist in Taiwan's leisure agriculture online marketing adopting the theory of innovation diffusion. *International Journal of Organizational Innovation*, 14(2), 85–105. <u>https://www.ijoi-</u>

online.org/attachments/article/47/FINALISSUEVOL8NUM3JANUARY2016.pdf

Liebe, J. D., Huesers, J., & Huebner, U. (2016). Investigating the roots of successful IT adoption processes: An empirical study exploring the shared awareness-

knowledge of directors of nursing and chief information officers. *BMC Medical Informatics and Decision Making*, *16*(10), 1–13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12911-</u> 016-0244-0

Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1985). Naturalistic inquiry. Sage Publications.

- Lu, Y. (2021). Examining user acceptance and adoption of the Internet of Things. International Journal of Business Science and Applied Management, 6(3), 2–17. <u>https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.2.36737.58728</u>
- Lv, C., & Zhange, L. (2017). How can collective leadership influence the implementation of change in health care? *Chinese Nursing Research*, *4*, 182–185. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cnre.2017.10.005</u>
- Malterud, K., Siersma, V. D., & Guassora, A. D. (2016). Sample size in qualitative interview studies: Guided by information power. *Qualitative Health Research*, 26, 1753–1760. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732315617444</u>
- Mijin, N., Jang, H., Khongorzul, G., & Choi (2019). Attitude toward the use of electronic medical record systems: Exploring moderating effects of self-image. *Information Development*, 35, 67–69. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0266666917729730</u>
- Moser, A., & Korstjens, I. (2018). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part
 3: Sampling, data collection, and analysis. *The European Journal of General Practice*, 24, 9–18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375091</u>
- Mount, A., & Anderson, I. (2015). Driving change-not just a walk in the park: The role of the nurse champion in sustained change. *Nurse Leader*, 13, 36–38. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mnl.2015.06.003</u>

Murphy, D. R., Satterly, T., Rogith, D., Sittig, D.F. & Singh, H. (2019). Barriers and facilitators impacting reliability of the electronic health record-facilitated total testing process. *International Journal of Medical Informatics*, 127, 102–108. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2019.04.004</u>

National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research. (1979). *The Belmont Report: Ethical principles and* guidelines for the protection of human subjects of research. Author.

Neufeld, S. D., Chapman, J., Crier, N., Marsh, S., McLeod, J., & Deane, L. A. (2019). Research 101: A process for developing local guidelines for ethical research in heavily researched communities. *Harm Reduction Journal*, *16*(1), 1–11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12954-019-0315-5</u>

Ngozwana, N. (2018). Ethical dilemmas in qualitative research methodology: Researcher's reflections. *International Journal of Educational Methodology*, *4*, 19–28. <u>https://doi.org/10.12973/ijem.4.1.19</u>

Ngugi, P. Were, M. C., & Babic, A. (2021). Users' perception on factors contributing to electronic medical records systems use: A focus group discussion study in healthcare facilities setting in Kenya. *BMC Medical Informatics & Decision Making*, 21(1), 1–14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12911-021-01737-x</u>

O'Boyle, A. (2018). Encounters with identify: Reflexivity and positioning in an interdisciplinary research project. *International Journal of Research & Method in Education*, *41*, 353–366. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1743727X.2017.1310835</u>

Office for Civil Rights. (2017). HITECH act enforcement interim final rule. Author.

Okoli, T. T., & Tewari, D. D. (2021). Does the adoption process of financial technology in Africa follow an inverted U-shaped hypothesis? An evaluation of Rogers Diffusion of Innovation Theory. *Asian Academy of Management Journal of Accounting and Finance*, *17*(1), 281–305.

https://doi.org/10.21315/aamjaf2021.17.1.10

Parthasaranthy, R., Rangarajan, A., & Garfield, M. (2021). Implementation of secure health information technology innovations: An extended diffusion of innovation perspective. *e-Service Journal*, 12, 43–76.

https://doi.org/10.2979/eservicej.12.3.02

- Pfeffer, J., & Salancik, G. R. (1978). *The external control of organizations: A resource dependence perspective*. (6th ed.). Harper & Row.
- Pollack, J., & Pollack, R. (2015). Using Kotter's eight stage process to manage an organizational change program: Presentation and practice. *Systemic Practice & Action Research*, 28, 51–66. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11213-014-9317-0</u>
- Priestman, W., Sridharan, S., Vigne, H., Collins, R., Seamer, L., & Sebire, N. (2018).
 What to expect from electronic patient record system implementation: Lessons
 learned from published evidence. *Journal of Innovation in Health Informatics*, 25, 92–104. <u>https://doi.org/10.14236/jhi.v25i2.1007</u>
- Pustulka, P., Bell, J., & Trabka, A. (2019). Questionable insiders: Changing positionalities of interviewers throughout stages of migration research. *Fields Methods*, 31, 241–259. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1525822X19839368</u>

Radnejad, A. B., & Osiyevskyy, O. (2020). Navigating imposed innovation: A decision-

making framework. Business Horizons, 63(1), 97–107.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bushor.2019.09.010

- Rathert, C., Porter, T. H., Mittler, J. N., & Fleig-Palmer, M. (2019). Seven years after meaningful use: Physicians' and nurses' experiences with electronic health records. *Health Care Management Review*, 44, 30–40. https://doi.org/10.1097/HMR.000000000000168
- Rae, J., & Green, B. (2016). Portraying reflexivity in health services research. *Qualitative Health Research*, 26, 1543–1549. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316634046
- Rakic, M., Dittrich, T., Elger, B. S., & Shaw, D. (2017). Enhancing patients' autonomy by involving them in research ethics committees. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care: Journal of the International Society for Quality in Health Care*, 29, 896–900. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/intqhc/mzx128</u>

Rogers, E. M. (1962). *Diffusion of innovations*. Free Press of Glencoe.

- Rogers, E. M. (2002). Diffusion of preventive innovations. *Addictive Behaviors*, 27, 989–993. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0306-4603(02)00300-3</u>
- Rogers, E. M. (2003). Diffusion of innovations (5th ed.). Simon and Schuster.
- Rumeser, D., & Emsley, M. (2016). Key challenges of system dynamics implementation in project management. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 230, 22–30. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2016.09.004</u>
- Samadbeik, M., Fatehi, F., Braunstein, M., Barry, B., Saremian, M., Kalhor, F., &
 Edirippulige, S. (2020). Education and training on electronic medical records
 (EMRs) for health care professionals and students: A scoping review.

International Journal of Medical Informatics, 142, 1–10.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2020.104238

- Sanjari, M., Bahramnezhad, F., Khoshnava Fomani, F., Shoghi, M., & Ali Caheraghi, M. (2014). Ethical challenges of researchers in qualitative studies: The necessity to develop a specific guideline. *Journal of Medical Ethics and History of Medicine*, 7(14), 1–6. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4263394/</u>
- Saunders, M. N. K., Lewis, P., & Thornhill, A. (2015). *Research methods for business students* (7th ed.). Pearson Education Limited.
- Schuwer, R., & Janssen, B. (2018). Adoption of sharing and reuse of open resources by educators in high education institution in the Netherlands: A qualitative research of practices, motives, and conditions. *International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, 19, 151–170.

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/326349069_Adoption_of_Sharing_and_

Reuse_of_Open_Resources_by_Educators_in_Higher_Education_Institutions_in_ the_Netherlands_A_Qualitative_Research_of_Practices_Motives_and_Conditions

- Schwartz, M., Coccetti, A., Draheim, M., & Gordon, G. (2020). Perceptions of allied health staff of the implementation of an integrated electronic medical record across regional and metropolitan settings. *Australian Health Review*, 44, 965–972. https://doi.org/10.1071/AH19024
- Scott, I. A., Sullivan, C., & Staib, A. (2019). Going digital: A checklist in preparing for hospital-wide electronic medical record implementation and digital transformation. *Australian Health Review*, 43, 302–313.

https://doi.org/10.1071/AH17153

- Seijits, G. H., & Gandz, J. (2018). Transformational change and leader character. Business Horizons, 61, 239–249. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bushor.2017.11.005
- Smith, T. (2018). Qualitative & quantitative research. *Qualitative & Quantitative Research: Research Starters Education*, 1(1), 1–14.
- Tetef, S. (2017). Successful implementation of new technology using an interdepartmental collaborative approach. *Journal of PeriAnesthesia Nursing*, 32, 225–230. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jopan.2015.05.118
- Thorseng, A. A., & Grisot, M. (2017). Digitalization as institutional work: A case of designing a tool changing diabetes care. *Information Technology & People, 20*, 227–243. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/ITP-07-2015-0155</u>
- U.S. Department of Health & Human Services. (2020). *Electronic media record systems*. https://digital.ahrq.gov/key-topics/electronic-medical-record-systems
- Varpio, L., Ajjawi, R., Monrouxe, L. V., O'Brien, B. C., & Rees, C. E. (2017). Shedding the cobra effect: Problematizing thematic emergence, triangulation, saturation, and member checking. *Medical Education*, *51*, 40–50.

https://doi.org/10.1111/medu.13124

Vosko, S., Gupta, S., Shahidi, N., van Hattem, W. A., Zahid, S., McKay, O., Whitfield, A., Sidhu, M., Tate, D. J., Lee, E. Y. T., Byth, K., Williams, S. J., Burgess, N., & Bourke, M. J. (2021). Impact of technical innovations in EMR in the treatment of large nonpedunculated polyps involving the ileocecal valve. *Gastrointestinal Endoscopy*, 94(5), 959–968. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gie.2021.05.011</u>

- Weagraff, J. B. (2016). Healthcare leaders' experiences of electronic medical record adoption and use (Doctoral dissertation). ProQuest Digital Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 10249320)
- Woody, E.W. (2020). MHS genesis implementation: Strategies in support of successful EHR conversion. *Military Medicine*, 85, 1520–1527. https://doi.org/10.1093/milmed/usaa184
- Yaseen, A., Abdullah, A. G., Mohamed, A., Abdullah, A. M., Raed, H., & Bander, A. (2022). Electronic medical record implementation in a large healthcare system from a leadership perspective. *BMC Medical Informatics and Decision Making*, 22(1), 1–10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12911-022-01801-0</u>
- Yates, J., & Leggett, T. (2016). Qualitative research: An introduction. *Radiology Technology*, 88, 225–231. <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27837140</u>
- Yeung, M. L., Ismail, R., Ismail, N. H., & Hamzah, M. I. (2018). Interview protocol refinement: Fine-tuning qualitative research interview questions for multi-racial populations in Malaysia. *The Qualitative Report, 23*, 2700–2713. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2018.3412
- Yin, R. K. (2018). Case study research and Applications: Design and methods (6th. ed.). Sage Publications.
- Zhang, X. Y., & Zhang, P. (2016). Recent perspectives of electronic media record systems. *Experimental and Therapeutic Medicine*, 11, 2083–2085. https://doi.org/10.3892/etm.2016.3233

Appendix A: Interview Protocol

Strategies to Implement an Electronic Medical Records System in Health Care

Organizations

The purpose of this qualitative single case study is to explore strategies that hospital project managers use to adopt and implement EMR systems successfully to receive federal incentive payments.

Interviewee:	Location:

Date: _____ Time: _____

Notes:

- 1. Greet interviewee and introduce yourself.
- 2. Provide overview of the study and indicate the usefulness of the outcome.
- Obtain signed consent form. Offer to answer any questions that interviewee may have.
- 4. Remind interviewee about their volunteer efforts to participate in the study.
- 5. Remind interviewee about recording the interview and start the recording.
- Start the interview by recording interviewee's pre-assigned coded name, date, time and location.
- 7. Start asking interview questions. Allow enough time to answer those questions.
- 8. Listen carefully to interviewee. Ask probing and follow-up questions, if needed.
- 9. At the end of the interview, thank interviewee for their participation and time.
- 10. Provide participant your contact information if they have any questions.

Appendix B: Interview Questions

- 1. What strategies have you used to adopt and implement EMR systems successfully?
- 2. What was the process to determine which EMR system to use in your organization?
- 3. How was the staff made aware of the change in the organization prior to the initial training of the EMR system?
- 4. How did you assess the effectiveness of the EMR from the users' perspective, including the clinical staff?
- 5. What training techniques did you use to train new clinical staff members for using the EMR system?
- 6. What strategies are in place to ensure the clinical staff members are using the EMR system accurately?
- 7. What were the key barriers to implementing the EMR system?
- 8. How did your organization address the key barriers to implementing the EMR system?
- 9. What additional information would you add regarding your experience in adopting and implementing the EMR system successfully that we have not discussed so far?

Appendix C: CITI Certificate

